Supporting information about the effect of energy acquisition and allocation on egg production in relation to reproductive strategies of 39 fishes (species synopses).

Richard S. McBride¹, Stylianos Somarakis², Gary R. Fitzhugh³, Anu Albert⁴, Nathalia A. Yaragina⁵, Mark J. Wuenschel¹, Alexandre Alonso-Fernández⁶, Gualtiero Basilone⁷.

Correspondence: R S McBride, National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Fisheries Science Center, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 02543, USA; Tel.: +508 495 2244; Fax.: +508 495 2115; Email: richard.mcbride@noaa.gov

¹ National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Fisheries Science Center, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole MA 02543, USA

² Hellenic Centre for Marine Research, P.O. Box 2214, Heraklion 71003, Crete, Greece

³ National Marine Fisheries Service, Southeast Fisheries Science Center, Panama City, FL 32408, USA

⁴ Estonian Marine Institute, University of Tartu, Vanemuise 46, 51014 Tartu, Estonia

⁵ Polar Research Institute of Marine Fisheries and Oceanography, 6 Knipovich St., Murmansk, 183038, Russia

⁶ Instituto de Investigaciones Marinas, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, IIM-CSIC, c/ Eduardo Cabello 6, 36208 Vigo (Pontevedra) Spain

⁷ Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche Istituto Ambiente Marino Costiero UOS Mazara (CNR-IAMC), Via L. Vaccara, n°61, 91026 Mazara del Vallo (Tp), Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
SPECIES SYNOPSES	4
Sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus, Petromyzontidae)	4
American and European eel (Anguilla rostrata, A. anguilla, Anguillidae)	5
Bay anchovy (Anchoa mitchilli, Engraulidae)	6
European anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus, Engraulidae)	6
Japanese anchovy (Engraulis japonicus, Engraulidae)	7
Northern anchovy (Engraulis mordax, Engraulidae)	8
Atlantic and Pacific herring (Clupea harengus, C. pallasii, Clupeidae)	9
European sardine (Sardina pilchardus, Clupeidae)	10
European sprat (Sprattus sprattus, Clupeidae)	11
Roach (Rutilus rutilus, Cyprinidae)	11
Zebrafish (Danio rerio, Cyprinidae)	12
Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus, Salmonidae)	13
Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar, Salmonidae)	14
Brown trout (Salmo trutta, Salmonidae)	15
Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua, Gadidae)	16
Haddock (Melanogrammus aeglefinus, Gadidae)	17
Pouting (Trisopterus luscus, Gadidae)	18
Inland silverside (Menidia beryllina, Atherinopsidae)	18
Medaka (Oryzias latipes, Adrianichthyidae)	19
Mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus, Fundulidae)	20
Threespine stickleback (Gasterosteus aculeatus, Gasterosteidae)	21
European seabass (Dicentrarchus labrax, Moronidae)	21
Largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides, Centrarchidae)	22
Pumpkinseed (Lepomis gibbosus, Centrarchidae)	24
White crappie (Pomoxis annularis, Centrarchidae)	25
Eurasian and yellow perch (Perca fluviatilis, P. flavescens, Percidae)	26
Walleye and pikeperch (Sander vitreus, S. lucioperca, Percidae)	27
Pebbled butterflyfish (Chaetodon multicinctus, Chaetodontidae)	27
Spiny chromis (Acanthochromis polyacanthus, Pomacentridae)	28
Lesser sandeel (Ammodytes marinus, Ammodytidae)	29
Longjaw mudsucker (Gillichthys mirabilis, Gobiidae)	29

Turbot (Scophthalmus maximus, Scophthalmidae)	30
Plaice (Pleuronectes platessa, Pleuronectidae)	30
Winter flounder (Pseudopleuronectes americanus, Pleuronectidae)	31
Sole (Solea solea, Soleidae)	31
REFERENCES	32

INTRODUCTION

The document contains supporting information about the effect of energy acquisition and allocation on egg production in relation to reproductive strategies of 39 fish species. We developed these synopses based on our own reviews of the literature and our participation with the Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Organization's (http://www.nafo.int/) Working Group on Reproductive Potential. Other experts were consulted during the review process as well (see "Species selection" and "Acknowledgements" in the main article). The final list is also presented in Table 1 of the main article.

A specific goal was to include a broad phylogenetic diversity, and the 39 species reviewed here are from 21 families and 12 orders. A few species represent each biogeographic zone (boreal, temperate, subtropical, tropical) and aquatic biome (marine, estuarine, freshwater) including diadromous fishes (i.e., sea lamprey, American and European eel, salmonids). Other selected species have been introduced or invaded habitat outside their native range, such as sea lamprey and the centrachids. Many species are important fishery species, such as Atlantic cod or largemouth bass. Others are important as experimental models in the laboratory, such as zebrafish, inland silverside, medaka, mummichog, threespine stickleback, and longjaw mudsucker. Many have specific spawning migrations, such as populations of sea lamprey, American and European eel, Atlantic and Pacific herring, roach, Atlantic salmon, brown trout, Arctic charr, Atlantic cod, walleye and pikeperch, Eurasian and yellow perch, plaice, and winter flounder. Fish names follow Nelson *et al.* (2004) for North American fishes and Wheeler (1992) for European fishes; any exceptions were checked against Eschmeyer and Fong (2008) and fishbase (www.fishbase.org).

Viviparous species were not tabulated (Table 1 of main article) or summarised here because of potential complications regarding non-lecithotrophic sources of nutrition (matrotrophy, oophagy, adelphophagy; Trexler 1997). There are several well-studied viviparous teleosts mentioned in the main article, except that we could not find sufficient information on any species of Chondrichthyes.

The format for each synopsis is standardised, usually in a two paragraph format. Each synopsis begins with a general description of the geographic range and habitat occupied by the species. Next, the reproductive strategy is outlined with respect to the following: 1) breeding opportunity (semelparous or iteroparous); 2) synchrony of oocyte development with respect to vitellogenesis (synchronous, group synchronous, or asynchronous) and oocyte maturation or ovulation (total or batch spawning); and 3) methods used to describe and calculate fecundity (determinate or

indeterminate). Terminology regarding reproductive strategies is similar to that used by Murua *et al.* (2003) and Kjesbu (2009).

These aspects of reproductive strategies are followed by a statement whether we consider the species as: 1) extreme capital breeders if females did not feed immediately prior to or during spawning, 2) mixed capital-income breeders if females mostly rely on capital for breeding, 3) mixed income-capital breeders if females mostly rely on income, and 4) extreme income breeders if females feed during the spawning period and show no evidence of storing energy for growth of gonads or accessory breeding activities. We also include specific evidence regarding the ways in which energy (e.g., food amount or type) affects the numbers or size of eggs produced per year, and whether this is based on observation, field or laboratory experimentation, or modeling of individual fish or at a population level (see also Table 1 of main article). A statement about any noteworthy context, particularly as it may relate to future research directions, concludes each synopsis.

SPECIES SYNOPSES

Sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*, Petromyzontidae)

An anadromous species distributed in the North Atlantic Ocean, sea lamprey has also invaded the North American Great Lakes (Hubbs and Pope 1937; Beamish 1980). It is a semelparous breeder: females enter rivers and streams in spring, at 5-7 years old, spawn in summer, and die within a few days of spawning (Applegate 1950; Wigley 1959; Hardisty 1965). Oocytes develop synchronously from primary growth to secondary growth to mature stages throughout the life of the lamprey (Fig. 3a-f of main article; Applegate 1950; Lewis and McMillan 1965). The absolute fecundity is established in the first year (ammocoete) and remains high in individuals from anadromous populations. In contrast, half or more of the oocytes in landlocked females do not undergo vitellogenesis or ovulate, but because these landlocked females are smaller, their relative fecundity is higher than anadromous populations (Appelgate 1950; Hardisty 1963, 1964). In both forms, lifetime fecundity can be estimated prior to spawning using the determinate fecundity method, and ranges from 20,000 to 100,000 in landlocked populations and from 124,000 to 260,000 in anadromous populations (Applegate 1950; Vladykov 1951; Wigley 1959; Hardisty 1963). Females can be best characterised as total ovulators that behaviourally spawn in batches; they ovulate their eggs in a single wave, from the posterior to the anterior of the ovary. Fully ripe eggs are shed into the coelom, and 20-40 eggs are released at a time into a nest, at intervals several minutes apart, lasting from 16 hours to 3.5 days (Appelgate 1950).

Sea lamprey is an extreme capital breeder. Sea lamprey cannot feed during the spawning run because their digestive tract degrades (Applegate 1950). Instead, they derive their spawning energy requirements from the catabolism of energy stored during the pre-maturation feeding phase (Beamish 1979; Beamish *et al.* 1979). Hardisty (1963; p. 17) notes that "the wide range of variability in oocyte numbers [is the result] of variations in nutritional and other environmental factors." Individuals of both anadromous and landlocked populations initially produce a similar

number of oocytes but in landlocked lampreys there is a dramatic downregulation of oocyte numbers later in life; this suggests that in landlocked conditions, food is either limiting, the smaller body size achieved limits the advancement of all potential oocytes, or both (Hardisty 1963; Applegate 1950). Sea lamprey size, which is related to fecundity, is positively related to their prey abundance (Heinrich *et al.* 1980) or even related to prey type (*Salvelinus namaycush* vs. *Coregonus clupeaformis*; Kitchell and Breck 1980). Smith and Marsden (2007) report a positive correlation between prey (lake trout) abundance and sea lamprey fecundity in the Great Lakes. The introduction of sea lamprey into landlocked ecosystems, while generally a nuisance to existing fisheries, represents a potential evolutionary model to explore, via the comparative method, the nutritional mechanisms that affect egg production.

American and European eel (Anguilla rostrata, A. anguilla, Anguillidae)

These catadromous species are widely distributed in the North Atlantic Ocean, living most of their lives in freshwater systems of North America or Europe, respectively (Tesch 1977; van Ginneken and Maes 2005). They are semelparous breeders, spawning in the Sargasso Sea at 10 or even 20 years old (Vøllestad 1992; Oliveira and McCleave 2000). Oocytes develop synchronously from primary growth to secondary growth to mature stages (Palstra *et al.* 2005). The spawning cue is not well known but maturation is stimulated by sustained swimming activity (Palstra and van den Thillart 2010). The gonadosomatic index is low for females as they leave coastal habitat (1-2% of their body weight is gonad), but increases dramatically to 40-60% in spawning females (van Ginneken *et al.* 2005). Lifetime fecundity ranges from 1 to 4 million (*A. anguilla*; Boëtius and Boëtius 1980; van Ginneken *et al.* 2005) and 2 million to 20 million eggs (*A. rostrata*; Barbin and McCleave 1997). Spawning has only been observed in tanks where it appears to result in a nearly instantaneous release of all eggs (van Ginneken *et al.* 2005; Oliveira and Hable 2010).

Both species are extreme capital breeders. Pankhurst and Sorensen (1984) observed the degradation of the stomach during experimentally-induced maturation, and several modeling studies show that females can mature a clutch of eggs entirely from catabolism of their energy stores (e.g., Boëtius and Boëtius 1985; Amin 1991; van Ginneken and van den Thillart 2000). There are many hypotheses about what triggers the spawning migration of "silver" eels, but among the biotic-oriented mechanisms, Vøllestad (1992) dismisses age or size because they are too variable among this life phase. Larsson et al. (1990) note that fat stores in silver eels are higher than pre-migratory phase yellow eels, so they propose that energy content triggers migration and maturation; although intuitive, this hypothesis remains largely untested. Van Ginneken and van den Thillart (2000) create an energy budget indicating that migrating females use about 40% of their stored energy for swimming, leaving 60% for egg production. Although they successfully argue that mature females have sufficient energy reserves to make it to the Sargasso Sea, Kettle et al. (2011) note that this may not be true for all adult source areas, and further research is needed to explain the 20-fold variation in fecundity estimates for these species. Tagging methods that would allow direct examination of naturally maturing females in the ocean are promising (Methling et al. 2011) but have yet to reveal insights into the likely relationship between available energy and egg production in Anguilla. Stock assessment working groups are beginning to evaluate condition indices of escaping silver eels for their potential to forecast reproductive potential of adults leaving freshwater systems (WGEEL, 2012).

Bay anchovy (Anchoa mitchilli, Engraulidae)

A marine-estuarine species of the western North Atlantic Ocean, bay anchovy lives for a maximum of 3-4 years and is an iteroparous breeder: females start spawning in estuaries at 3-10 months old (Luo and Musick 1991; Zastrow *et al.* 1991). The reproductive season is usually from spring to autumn, shorter at northern latitudes but may extend throughout the year at southern latitudes within its range (Houde and Lovdal 1984; Vouglitois *et al.* 1987; Luo and Musick 1991; Zastrow *et al.* 1991; Lapolla 2001; Bassista and Hartman 2005). Annual fecundity is indeterminate. Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage asynchronously and mature in batches (Luo and Musick 1991). Batch fecundity varies seasonally and geographically and ranges from 429 to 1186 eggs g⁻¹ ovary-free weight (Luo and Musick 1991; Zastrow *et al.* 1991; Bassista and Hartman 2005). Spawning fraction is typically high (> 0.5) with nearly all females spawning daily during the peak of the spawning season (Luo and Musick 1991; Zastrow *et al.* 1991, Bassista and Hartman 2005).

Bay anchovy is an extreme income breeder. Luo and Musick (1991) present calculations showing that the overall egg production for the 1988 spawning season in lower Chesapeake Bay was 45110 eggs per female (55-mm fork length) which is equivalent to 346% of a female's body energy. During peak spawning, daily spawning output was 6.3% of body energy. The authors conclude that most spawning energy was derived from daily feeding, not fat reserves. Wang and Houde (1994) showed that somatic growth increases significantly in bay anchovy during the spawning season (32-33% increase in gutted weight and 26% in total weight), so feeding not only meet energy requirements for daily spawning but also provides surplus energy for growth. Finally, bay anchovy egg abundance in the field is correlated with the abundance of calanoid copepods, the principal prey item for adults (Peebles *et al.* 1996; Peebles 2002). The correlation between instantaneous prey availability and egg production is expected to be higher in income breeders, i.e. when spawning energy derives primarily from recent feeding.

European anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus, Engraulidae)

A marine species of the eastern Atlantic Ocean, the Mediterranean Sea, the Black Sea and the Azov Sea, European anchovy lives for a maximum of 4-5 years and is an iteroparous breeder: at about 1 year old females start to spawn. They spawn usually from spring to autumn, but spawning duration ranges from 2.5 months to year-round depending on stock and temperature cycles (Palomera and Rubies 1996, Somarakis *et al.* 2004). In the Black Sea, some young-of-the-year (65-95 mm) may spawn towards the end of the spawning season when they are 2-3 months old (Lisovenko and Andrianov 1996). Annual fecundity is indeterminate and oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage in an asynchronous manner (Motos 1996; Schismenou *et al.* 2012). Batch fecundity and spawning frequency varies widely between seasons, years and stock areas especially in the Mediterranean Sea (Motos 1996; Somarakis *et al.* 2004; 2012). For example, estimates of spawning fraction range from 0.06 to 0.40 (Somarakis *et*

al. 2004; 2007; 2012) but values up to 1.00 have been reported in the Black Sea during the peak of the spawning period (Lisovenko and Andrianov 1996). In the Bay of Biscay, spawning fraction is consistently ~0.4 at peak spawning (Uriarte et al. 2012).

There is substantial field evidence and some comparative studies suggesting that European anchovy are largely income breeders. However, energy gained and stored before the spawning period might also affect its annual reproductive output. Lisovenko & Andrianov (1996) report an increase of up to 49% for mean female gutted weight from the beginning to the end of the spawning period in the Black Sea whereas, in the Aegean Sea, anchovy exhibits its highest somatic and liver condition during the reproductive period (May-June, Somarakis unpublished data). These observations suggest that food intake during the reproductive period might be sufficient to support both somatic growth and egg production. The high variability of spawning fraction and batch fecundity estimates for European anchovy in the Mediterranean Sea has been attributed to the respective high spatial and temporal variability in plankton production characteristic of this basin (Somarakis et al. 2004; 2007). In the North Aegean Sea, anchovy exhibited better somatic condition and produced more eggs (higher batch fecundity) and at higher rates (higher spawning fraction) during June 1993 when zooplankton concentration (adult prey) was significantly higher compared to June 1995 (Somarakis 2005). Recently, a strong linear relationship has been demonstrated between daily specific fecundity (eggs g⁻¹ of the population) and the ratio of zooplankton biomass and anchovy biomass (index of per capita food availability) indicating that egg production is controlled by a density-dependent mechanism (Somarakis et al. 2012). Finally, in the Strait of Sicily, chlorophyll concentration before the onset of the reproduction period was correlated with fish condition and reproductive intensity (i.e., mean gonadosomatic index during the spawning season) which implies that the level of primary production during the winter-early spring bloom might affect reproductive output in the subsequent spawning period in summer through the increased condition of adult fish (Basilone et al. 2006). Also in the Strait of Sicily, interannual fluctuations in egg abundance are positively related to primary productivity (Basilone *et al.*, in press).

Japanese anchovy (Engraulis japonicus, Engraulidae)

A marine species of the western North Pacific Ocean, Japanese anchovy lives for a maximum of 4 years and is an iteroparous breeder: at about 1 year old females start to spawn, and they typically spawn from early spring to late autumn (Tsuruta and Hirose 1989; Kawaguchi *et al.* 1990; Funamoto and Aoki 2002; Funamoto *et al.* 2004). Annual fecundity is indeterminate and oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage in an asynchronous manner (Imai and Tanaka 1994). There is strong experimental and field evidence that batch fecundity increases and egg size decreases with increasing temperature (Tsuruta and Hirose 1989, Kawaguchi *et al.* 1990; Imai and Tanaka 1997; Imai and Kajitori 2000; Funamoto *et al.* 2004; Takasuka *et al.* 2005). Spawning fraction varies from 0.71 to 0.23, within a year, among years, and among stocks (Tsuruta and Hirose 1989; Funamoto and Aoki 2002; Takasuka *et al.* 2005). A positive relationship has been recently demonstrated between spawning fraction and sea surface temperature (Takasuka *et al.* 2005).

Japanese anchovy are largely income breeders as evidenced by laboratory experiments (Tsuruta and Hirose 1989; Kawaguchi *et al.* 1990) demonstrating that food availability affects imminent reproductive potential. In a starvation experiment (Kawaguchi *et al.* 1990), fish continued to spawn for 22 days at 19°C after the onset of starvation but with decreasing rate. Egg volume decreased as well. In another study, Tsuruta and Hirose (1989) investigated the effect of the amount of food and fish density on egg production. Lower levels of food increased the interspawning interval and decreased batch fecundity and egg size. The condition of fish declined during the experiments which indicated that allocation of energy to reproduction was prioritised. Food intake affected egg production with a two-week lag. At constant food supply, egg production decreased in tanks with high density of fish. However, somatic growth was better in the high density tank. This implied that a density dependent mechanism (amount of food per individual fish) controlled the allocation of energy to growth or reproduction. At high fish density, growth was prioritised. When sea water from the high density tank was transferred into the low density tank, egg production decreased in the low density tank.

Northern anchovy (Engraulis mordax, Engraulidae)

A marine species of the eastern North Pacific Ocean, northern anchovy is an iteroparous breeder: at about 1-year (central subpopulation) or 2-years (northern subpopulation) old, females start to spawn (Hunter and Macewicz 1980; Laroche and Richardson 1980; Blaxter and Hunter 1982). Some spawning occurs throughout the year, but the central subpopulation (35°N) spawns primarily in winter (February-March) (Hunter and Macewicz 1980; Blaxter and Hunter 1982), whereas the northern subpopulation (45°N) has a more precise and much shorter spawning season that peaks in July (Laroche and Richardson 1980; Blaxter and Hunter 1982). Annual fecundity is indeterminate. Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage in an asynchronous manner. Hydration begins in early morning and the eggs are completely hydrated by sunset (Hunter and Macewicz 1980; Hunter and Leong 1981; Hunter and Macewitz 1985a). Batch fecundity estimates for the central subpopulation from Daily Egg Production Method applications (peak spawning) range from 445 to 622 eggs g⁻¹ whole body weight and spawning fraction from 0.09 to 0.16 (Hunter and Macewitz 1985a; Hunter et al. 1985; Somarakis et al. 2004). Parrish et al. (1986) demonstrated that the fraction of females with hydrated eggs or with day-1 postovulatory follicles increased with female size, and despite a number of simplifications and assumptions in their approach, determined annual fecundity to be agedependent. An average 4+ yr-old female produces 10 times as many eggs as a 1-yr old female. The difference was mainly due to the increase in the spawning period with increasing age.

Northern anchovy are largely capital breeders. Fat accumulates in the body during summer (April and July), associated with the annual spring bloom of zooplankton. It usually remains high through the end of autumn (December) and then declines to a minimum during the winter spawning period (Hunter and Leong 1981). Thus, fat stored from the previous spring and summer may be used the following year to support reproduction (Hunter and Leong 1981). According to calculations by these authors, about 2/3 of the annual cost of egg production can be accounted for by the annual decline in fat stores. There is evidence that feeding conditions may not affect greatly the batch fecundity (Hunter and Leong 1981): Females matured in the laboratory were fed a high ration and grew about four times faster than those in the sea, yet the

batch fecundity was about the same as field-caught specimens, which consume a lower ration. At least over the first few months of spawning, batch fecundity does not change significantly, implying that it is more stable than other reproductive traits. In laboratory experiments (Hunter and Macewicz 1985b), female northern anchovies reacted very quickly to adverse feeding conditions by resorbing oocytes and they recovered rapidly when sufficient food was available. Females with low levels of alpha atresia (< 50% yolked oocytes affected) spawned about half as frequently as did those with no alpha stage atresia. Finally, during 'El Niño' years, small pelagic fish populations in the California and Humboldt Current systems may exhibit markedly lower egg production (Blaxter and Hunter 1982; Alheit 1989).

Atlantic and Pacific herring (Clupea harengus, C. pallasii, Clupeidae)

These marine species are widely distributed in the North Atlantic Ocean (*Clupea harengus*), including the Baltic Sea, and in the North Pacific (*Clupea pallasii*). They are iteroparous breeders with group-synchronous oocyte development with respect to vitellogenesis (Hickling and Rutenberg 1936; Kurita, *et al.* 2003). Herring have a very distinct mode of advanced yolked oocytes from which to measure potential annual fecundity (Hickling 1940), but it has been demonstrated that smaller vitellogenic oocytes of this mode are downregulated by atresia prior to spawning (Kurita *et al.* 2003). The fecundity of 34 cm fish, from the spring-spawning herring population decreased significantly, over 50%, from 113,000 in July to 49,200 in February/March (Kurita *et al.* 2003). Herring is a total spawner that ovulates all mature oocytes in a single batch (Geffen 2009). Once mature, females normally deposit their eggs on gravel or rocks in coastal and offshore bank habitats. Skip spawning by herring was reported to be very high as inferred indirectly from fish scales (Engelhard and Heino 2005), but more recent, direct examinations of herring gonads during different migratory phases indicated much more modest skip spawning rates (Kennedy *et al.* 2010).

The herring is an extreme capital breeder (Kennedy et al. 2010). During the spawning migration, body reserves accumulated during summer feeding are the only source of energy for reproduction, migration, and routine metabolism (Slotte 1999). Potential fecundity is a function of the whole body weight for Icelandic summer-spawning herring (Óskarsson and Taggart 2006). Wood (1958) and references therein have shown conclusively that the fat content of the herring is related to both feeding and time of spawning. Further it was observed that low fat content in females, caused by a scarcity of food, can reduce the number of eggs produced (Hempel 1971). During summer feeding, when the amount of materials to be invested in reproduction has not yet been decided, fish produce high numbers of small vitellogenic oocytes independently of condition. In autumn, when the possible amount of investment is determined, and more material is needed for oocyte growth, the number and quality of oocytes is downregulated depending on nutritional condition (Brooks et al. 1997; Kurita et al. 2003). Fecundity of both Atlantic herring (Ma et al. 1998) and Pacific herring (Hay and Brett 1988) is known to vary due to nutritional condition of the spawning fish, and its annual variation is related to differences in food intake (Hempel 1971; Bowers and Holliday 1961). Differentiating between recruit and repeat spawners is potentially important because the timing of oocyte growth, and seasonal change in intensity of atresia can be different between the two (Slotte and Fiksen 2000; Óskarsson et al. 2002). Food availability also affects the onset of maturity by 1 year in Atlantic herring (Cushing and Burd

1956). Skip spawning is related to condition and may follow climate signals (Engelhard and Heino 2006). Kennedy *et al.* (2010) showed how individuals that did not reach a Fulton's condition factor above 0.70 during the feeding season are less likely to begin ovary maturation. Below this threshold, the ovary developed later, had a higher intensity of atresia, or were likely to skip spawn in the coming spawning season. For both herring species there is extensive information about the reproductive biology and the connection between feeding and reproductive potential. This is an excellent example of a capital breeder, but herring typically over commit to yolked eggs and adjust realised fecundity via atresia.

European sardine (Sardina pilchardus, Clupeidae)

A marine species of the eastern North Atlantic Ocean, the Mediterranean Sea and the Black Sea, European sardine is an iteroparous breeder: depending on stock or year, females start to spawn at 1-4 years old (Somarakis *et al.* 2006a; Silva *et al.* 2006; 2008), usually from autumn to spring (Somarakis *et al.* 2006a; Ganias *et al.* 2007; Stratoudakis *et al.* 2007). The duration of the spawning period is variable and depends on temperature (preference for spawning at 14-15°C and avoidance at < 12°C and > 16 °C; Stratoudakis *et al.* 2007). Annual fecundity is indeterminate. Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage in an asynchronous manner (Ganias *et al.* 2004), however, a clear hiatus is established in the oocyte size frequency distributions at the late stages of vitellogenesis (tertiary yolk globule stage) (Ganias *et al.* 2004). Mean batch fecundity at peak spawning shows low variation between years and stocks and is highly and closely related to average female weight (Ganias *et al.* 2004; Somarakis *et al.* 2006b). Spawning fraction estimates range from 0.03 to 0.24 (Ganias *et al.* 2003; Somarakis *et al.* 2006b).

Sardine is primarily a capital breeder. There is a strong inverse relationship between ovarian condition and somatic condition in the eastern Mediterranean (Ganias *et al.* 2007) implying that egg production relies on energy reserves accumulated during the summer growing season. Recently, Mustać and Sinovčić (2009) have described a similar inverse relationship between fat content and the sexual cycle of sardine in the Adriatic Sea. Off the Iberian Peninsula, Zwolinski *et al.* (2001) report a 25% decrease in mean gutted weight of sardine from the beginning (October) to the end (March) of the spawning season. Furthermore, Silva *et al.* (2008) have demonstrated that the Iberian stock grows and improves condition outside the main spawning season (when temperature and food availability are higher). Nonetheless, there is field evidence (Ganias 2009) that, besides capitalised energy, current income may fine-tune its reproductive effort. In the eastern Mediterranean, Ganias (2009) reports that reproductive activity, incidence of recent spawning, and relative batch fecundity were higher in areas with increased Chl *a* concentration. Relative fecundity was significantly higher at sites with increased zooplankton. The author therefore concluded that, besides stored energy, sardine also uses current income to support egg production.

European sprat (Sprattus sprattus, Clupeidae)

A marine-estuarine species distributed in the eastern North Atlantic Ocean, European sprat is also distributed in the North, Baltic, Mediterranean, and Black Seas (Bailey 1980). It is an iteroparous breeder: adults mature at age 1 or 2 (yr) (Bailey 1980; Polivaiko 1980). Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stages asynchronously (Haslob et al. 2012). Sprat ovulates eggs in batches (Petrova 1960; Polivaiko 1980; George 1987; Alheit 1988). No skip spawning or atretic down regulation of vitellogenic oocytes has been reported. All parameters required to estimate fecundity via an indeterminate method vary both spatially and temporally. The size at maturity is larger in the Baltic Sea (10-11 cm, Kraus and Köster 2004) than in the Black Sea (5.2-11.5 cm; Giragosov 2002). The generally protracted spawning season (5-6 months) is longer in warmer waters, and peak spawning varies with latitude: April-August in northern vs. November-April in southern European waters (Petrova 1960; Grauman 1969; Dulĉić 1998; Giragosov 2002). Individual sprat spawn from 2 to 4.5 months (Alekseev and Alekseeva 2005; Giragosov 2002). Number of batches per year ranges from 4 (Shkitsky 1967) to 13-17 (Alekseev and Alekseeva 2005) in the Baltic sprat and is 34.5 on average in the Black Sea sprat (Giragosov 2002). A spawning interval during the main spawning time was estimated of approximately 4 days for Baltic sprat (Kraus and Köster 2004; Haslob et al. 2012), and of 2 days for Black Sea sprat (Giragosov 2002). Batch fecundity varies in relation to fish size and sampling month, region, and year (Polivaiko 1980; Haslob et al. 2005; Alekseev and Alekseeva 2005; Haslob et al. 2011, 2013). For example, batch fecundity of Baltic sprat ranges from 206 to 4,244 eggs per female. Absolute individual fecundity of Black Sea sprat has been estimated to average 28,193 oocytes (Giragosov 2002).

European sprat is a mixed income-capital breeder. Feeding by Black Sea sprat declines but continues during the spawning period, which provides energy for sprat reproduction. Daily rations of fish at age 1+ and 2+ during the spawning period were 2.6 - 2.5% of body weight; outside the spawning period maximum daily rations were 8.8-7.7%. After spawning, the gonad rest and energy reserves accumulate. During the spawning period, lipid amount in muscles and viscera decreased to 3-5 %, whereas in the non-spawning period lipid values rise to 12-15 % (Shulman et al. 1985). Feeding effects on sprat reproduction are inferred from a negative correlation between batch fecundity and stock size (Haslob et al. 2005, 2011); however, individual fish condition is not correlated with batch fecundity (Haslob et al. 2011) and abiotic factors may have confounding effects (Haslob et al. 2005, 2011). Sprat in the Baltic lives at the northern boundary of the geographical distribution of this species (Muus and Nielsen 1999) and years with a higher temperature may result in better growth, earlier maturation and enhanced gonad development leading to a higher egg production. Low water temperatures reduce and delay the onset of the spring zooplankton production in the Baltic (MacKenzie et al. 1996) especially availability of warm-adapted prey species (Grauman and Yula 1989; Möllmann et al. 2000), which in turn may negatively affect individual fecundity (Haslob et al. 2005).

Roach (*Rutilus rutilus*, Cyprinidae)

A freshwater species, the roach has a native distribution throughout Europe and Asia and is introduced widely (Vila-Gispert and Moreno-Amich 2000). It is an iteroparous breeder: at

about 3 years old females spawn in spring (Mann 1973; Bastl 1995; Nõges and Järvet 2005). Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stages in a group-synchronous manner (Rinchard and Kestemont 1996). Oocytes develop from secondary growth to mature stages a synchronous manner (Rinchard and Kestemont 1996). We are not aware of reports regarding skip spawning or atretic down regulation of this advancing clutch of vitellogenic oocytes by this species. Potential annual fecundity varies by age from about 1 to 50 thousand eggs per female (MacKay and Mann 1969; Mann 1973; Townsend *et al.* 1990; Bastl 1995). Females are best characterised as total ovulators that behaviourally spawn in batches; they ripen their eggs in a single wave and fully ripe eggs are released in several dozen spawning events over several days (Rinchard and Kestemont 1996; Wedekind 1996).

Roach is an extreme capital breeder. It spawns in spring, and after a brief period when the gonad rests, growth of secondary oocytes resume in late summer concurrent with a drawdown of visceral fat reserves (Lyagina 1972; Rinchard and Kestemont 1996). MacKay and Mann (1969) document low potential fecundity in roach that fed primarily on detritus; they also cite earlier studies that indicate that both food type (i.e., animal versus plant) and amount could affect roach fecundity. Several studies of roach populations – in reservoirs or rivers – show that roach fecundity varies widely from year to year, and the authors qualitatively attribute this to positive associations with feeding conditions (Lyagina 1972, 1975; Kuznetsov and Khalitov 1978; Vøllestad and L'Abée-Lund 1990; Bastl 1995). Some of these studies specifically note that when potential fecundity was lower, the egg size is larger, suggesting some compensatory effect that improves individual offspring fitness. Cryer et al. (1986) demonstrate that large year classes of age-0 roach in Alderfen Broad could overgraze their prey, which reduces absolute fecundity of conspecific adults (see also Perrow et al. 1990). Wyatt (1988) examined roach in Slapton Ley, without such a food limitation, and reported growth rates so fast that maturation occurred a year earlier than normally reported. In both systems, population size cycled in a similarly stable manner. Townsend et al. (1990) modeled roach dynamics in Alderfen Broad and Slapton Ley to demonstrate how two different reproductive responses to food could create stable population cycles for relatively long periods. They also demonstrated that such cycles were a special condition of very high mortality rates and an overlapping forage base between juveniles and adults found in certain lakes, which explains why population cycles are not commonly observed for this relatively long-lived fish that typically switches prey types at older ages.

Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*, Cyprinidae)

A freshwater species native to Asia, zebrafish is a common biological model used in laboratory experiments (Ulloa *et al.* 2011). It is a semelparous breeder: females spawn spring-autumn, offspring mature as early as 10-11 weeks, and females do not live more than one year in nature (Eaton and Farley 1974a,b; Spence *et al.* 2007). Primary growth oocytes develop asynchronously into secondary growth oocytes so that annual fecundity is indeterminate (Selman *et al.* 1993; Forbes *et al.* 2010). In the presence of a male, females spawn daily batches of 2-5 dozen eggs; spawning frequency decreases when separated from a male or over long periods of spawning (Eaton and Farley 1974a).

Zebrafish are income breeders. Experiments demonstrate that food amount interacts with nearly the entire suite of reproductive traits. Higher food amounts cause female-biased sex ratios (Lawrence *et al.* 2008), earlier maturation (Uusi-Heikkilä *et al.* 2011), increased numbers of oocytes, but lower egg size and reduced hatching rates (Forbes *et al.* 2010).

Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus, Salmonidae)

Widely distributed among streams, oligotrophic lakes, and the marine environment, Arctic charr are found throughout the arctic, subarctic, boreal and temperate climate regions of the Holarctic ecozone. It is often the only fish species in alpine lakes, spawning in the summer and autumn (Sandlund et al. 1992; Klemetsen et al. 2003). Reproduction is iteroparous: age at first maturity ranges from 2 to 6 years in small resident populations, from 4 to 8 years in anadromous populations (Nordeng 1983). More than one year is required for post-spawners to restore their energy reserves to the same level as mature, non-reproductive charr (Dutil 1986), and the time needed increases as fish length increases. Bimodal populations (both large [normal] and small [dwarf] morphs occurring within a cohort) increase in frequency with latitude and are characteristic of large, deep lakes with few fish species (Griffiths 1994). Griffiths (1994) suggests that much of the variation in charr size structure is a consequence of increased seasonality in food supply in more northerly environments, coupled with feeding size thresholds. The latter result in larger members of a cohort being able to maintain growth rates on seasonally abundant prey while smaller individuals, which cannot catch these items, form a second mode of more slowly growing fish. Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stages in a group-synchronous manner and from secondary growth to mature stages a synchronous manner (Frantzen et al. 1997). Fecundity is determinate, and annual fecundity ranges from between 13 and 9200, increasing with body size (Sandlund et al. 1992; Dempson & Green 1985). Ovulation occurs in a single wave (Frantzen et al. 1997), and female lays the eggs in a nest (Sandlund et al. 1992; Seppä et al. 2001).

Arctic charr are extreme capital breeders (Nordeng 1983). They display considerable phenotypic plasticity and variability in life-history traits, including in responses to food availability. In females but not in males, the gonadosomatic index was predicted by growth rates in the months leading up to maturation, and among the females that matured, faster growing fish produced more eggs (Adams and Huntingford 1997). Within a single cohort of Arctic charr, fish that grow faster and ultimately become larger during the year prior to maturation were more likely to mature than those that grow less well (Woodhead 1960; Adams and Huntingford 1997). To the contrary, Sandlund et al. (1992) suggest that early encounters with sticklebacks in juvenile stage can induce a shift to predation on stickleback in the largest juveniles of planktivorous/piscivorous morphs, resulting in increased growth rate and delayed maturation, e.g. diet shift from invertebrates to piscivory as juveniles results increased growth rate and delayed maturation in resident lake charr. The latter is in accordance with study by Rikardsen and Elliott (2000), who conclude that under unfavourable feeding and competition conditions the charr grow slower and mature earlier. They therefore have a disadvantage when migrating to the sea because of their small size, and therefore the proportion of resident individuals is higher (Rikardsen and Elliott 2000). But according to Nordeng (1983), an increase in amount of food accelerates the development in the offspring and increases the proportion of resident individuals,

which shows that the pattern of segregation to morphs depends upon genetic constitution and access to food (Nordeng 1983). In conclusion, food quantity has a positive effect on gonadosomatic index and fecundity, but there is no clear pattern whether the food amount and type affects the onset of maturation and the proportion of resident individuals in case of Arctic charr.

Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar, Salmonidae)

An anadromous species inhabiting temperate and arctic zones of the North Atlantic Ocean, there are also landlocked stocks of Atlantic salmon in large deep lakes (Klemetsen *et al.* 2003) and a non-migratory male type. Atlantic salmon is an iteroparous breeder: most will mature after 1-3 winters at sea, but there is considerable variation in age at maturity within and between populations (Jonsson *et al.* 1991a; Klemetsen *et al.* 2003). Younger fish tend to spawn more often but expend less energy per spawning event than older females (Jonsson *et al.* 1991b; Klemetsen *et al.* 2003). Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stages in a group-synchronous manner and from secondary growth to mature stages a synchronous manner (Taranger *et al.* 2010). Fecundity estimation is determinate. Potential annual fecundity varies by body size from about 33 eggs to 18 thousand eggs per female (Gibson *et al.* 1996, Randall 1989, Klemetsen *et al.* 2003) and egg numbers are typically correlated with egg size (Klemetsen *et al.* 2003). The eggs are ovulated in a single batch, and can remain in the body cavity for around one week prior to egg deposition (spawning) and fertilisation (Taranger *et al.* 2010). Eggs are laid in a number of separate nests with the average of 24 h between successive spawning events (Fleming 1996).

Atlantic salmon is an extreme capital breeder. Maturing sea-run salmon feed heavily and store body reserves in the spring prior to spawning, which means that cues associated with the accumulation of surplus energy are decoupled from cues associated with spawning (Rowe and Thorpe 1990; Kadri et al. 1996; Simpson et al. 1996). Also, in laboratory or in caged conditions, individual life-history decisions to smolt or mature is made in the previous year, and is influenced by growth rate, metabolic rate, lipid stores and social status of the fish (Kadri et al. 1996; Simpson et al. 1996). Kadri et al. (1996) additionally demonstrated that differences in feeding motivation lead to differences in growth, lipid deposition and body condition between immature and maturing adult Atlantic salmon. This is regarded as an example of an endogenous modulation of appetite which ensures that fish will only reproduce if they are in adequate condition (Kadri et al. 1996). Maturing females are already larger and have higher fat contents than non-maturing fish after the grilse stage (first sea winter) (Schaffer and Elson 1975). It is concluded that fish that have been growing well are more likely to subsequently adopt the development pathway of early maturation (Simpson et al. 1996) and if spring growth is inadequate, maturation is switched off physiologically (Rowe and Thorpe 1990). Another aspect found is that the faster the parr grow in fresh water before smolting, the smaller their relative egg size becomes when they attain maturity. This phenotypic response has been explained as an adaptation to the potential growth opportunities in their nursery river. This assumes that feeding opportunities the parents experienced as juveniles in rivers is a good predictor of what their offspring experience (Jonsson et al. 1996; Klemetsen et al. 2003).

Brown trout (Salmo trutta, Salmonidae)

Inhabiting both fresh and salt waters, brown trout spawns in small streams as well as large rivers from the Atlas Mountains in North Africa to the Barents Sea, and from the western limits of the European coastline to the Ural Mountains and Caspian Sea. It has also been introduced widely outside Europe, spawning in autumn at northern latitudes and in winter further south (Klemetsen *et al.* 2003; Jonsson and Jonsson 2006). Brown trout are iteroparous: mean age at maturity ranges from 1 to 5 years in resident populations and from 2 to 8 years in anadromous populations (Jonsson and Jonsson 2006). Younger females spawn every year, older females spawn every other year (Jonsson *et al.* 1991c). Vitellogenic eggs develop group synchronously and mature eggs ovulate in a single wave (Billard 1987). Females spawn only a portion of eggs at the time, in nests, and may be reproductively active over a few days (Klemetsen *et al.* 2003). Fecundity estimation is determinate, and potential annual fecundity ranges from about 300 eggs to 1500 eggs per female, increasing with body size (Klemetsen *et al.* 2003)

Anadromous brown trout (sea trout) exhibit an alternative life-history strategy compared to resident trout, where the juveniles migrate to the estuary or coastal areas for feeding and return to freshwater for spawning or wintering. The profit of migration is increased food consumption with higher growth rate, energy density and reproductive potential than those of resident fish. Increased reproductive potential results from larger body size, higher gamete production and improved competitive ability during spawning. The cost to migration includes high mortality at sea and the energy need to move between the spawning and nursery grounds in fresh water and the sea (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993; Jonsson and Jonsson 2006). Jonsson and Jonsson (1993) therefore suggest that anadromous individuals adopt migration as a consequence of energetic limitation in fresh water (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993). In experiments, Wysujack *et al.* (2009) reported that low food availability increased the numbers of migratory fish.

Anadromous forms are extreme capital breeders (Ruzzante et al. 2004). Bagenal (1969) concluded from the tank experiments with brown trout that more of the better fed fish were mature, they grew faster and they contained significantly more and smaller (by dry weight) eggs, even after adjusting for fish size. Also there were indications of earlier spawning time (Bagenal 1969). However, Jonsson and Jonsson (1997) found that heavy feeding as sub-adults gave large eggs even in small females, evening out the variation due to fish size (Jonsson and Jonsson 1997). According to stomach content study by Jonsson et al. (1999), the age and size at which brown trout became piscivorous decreased with increasing individual growth rate of the fish. Age at sexual maturity increased with the age at which the fish became piscivorous. The growth rate for a trout feeding on invertebrates was slower than that of a fish-feeder. It is assumed that fish may have increased their net reproductive rate by postponing maturity after switching to fishfeeding (Jonsson et al. 1999). Comparison of trout from infertile and fertile streams indicated that fish originating from infertile streams were older at first sexual maturity and produced fewer eggs because of smaller average size than trout from fertile streams (McFadden et al. 1965). Fish of the same size produced a smaller total weight of eggs in infertile waters than in fertile waters. In low productivity systems, few eggs are produced per adult but such low reproductive rates keep these brown trout populations in equilibrium with the low basic productivity of the environment (McFadden et al. 1965).

Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua, Gadidae)

A marine boreal species widely distributed in the eastern and western parts of North Atlantic as well as around Greenland, Iceland, and Faroe Islands, Atlantic cod is an iteroparous breeder. In general, cod spawn in coastal areas as well as inlets and fjords in spring (ICES 1990, 1991). Considerable variation in age and size at maturity has been observed among stocks inhabiting different geographical areas (Lambert *et al.* 2003 and references therein). Mean age and size at 50% maturity for cod have been observed to vary among stocks by as much as 1.5 to 9.5 years of age and 27 to 72 cm in length. Baltic cod demonstrates a more prolonged period of spawning (March-October) possibly connected with match or mismatch of environmental conditions in the spatially-limited spawning grounds of the Baltic Sea, where there are strong variations in salinity and oxygen concentrations that frequently reach the species' tolerance limits. Fall spawning is also known in populations along western parts of North Atlantic (Chambers and Waiwood 1996).

Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stages as well as from secondary growth to mature oocytes in a group-synchronous manner (Shirokova 1977; Burton 1998; Kjesbu *et al.* 1998). Atretic down regulation appears to play an important role in final annual fecundity generation (Skjaeraasen *et al.* 2006; Thorsen *et al.* 2006). Therefore a determinant fecundity method to estimate potential annual fecundity is more accurate shortly prior to spawning, when difference between potential and realised fecundity is minimal. Annual potential fecundity, which ranges from 0.1 to 19 million ova per female (Serebryakov *et al.* 1984; Kjesbu 1988), is dependent on fish size, age, condition, feeding regime (or a ration in prespawning year) and prey availability (Kraus *et al.* 1997, 2000; Lambert and Dutil 2000; Marshall *et al.* 2003). In the field, Atlantic cod spawn 3-8 batches (Sorokin 1957), and as many as 19-20 batches in laboratory conditions (Kjesbu 1989). In lab, batch fecundity changes with a domeshape pattern: rises from the start of spawning (60-70 thousand eggs) to the maximum (300-310 thousand eggs) in the 10-13th batch and then decreases again; total number of batches and interbatch intervals are associated with the sizes and levels of female condition (Kjesbu 1989).

Atlantic cod is a capital breeder. After spawning in spring, there is a period of the gonads resting. New portions (clutches) of vitellogenic oocytes for the following year begin to develop in fall. Some mature fish in low condition might skip spawning. Experimental work on captive fish has demonstrated that skipped spawning is highly influenced by individual energy reserves (Skjæraasen *et al.* 2009, 2012). In the field, skip spawning appears to range from almost zero noted in Baltic cod (Kraus *et al.* 2002) to 30-40 % reported for various cod populations (Walsh *et al.* 1986; Burton *et al.* 1997; Rideout *et al.* 2000; Skjæraasen *et al.* 2012). Onset of maturation in a population varies also by years and appears to be affected by the feeding conditions experienced by fish in the pre-spawning season (Ajiad *et al.* 1999; Yaragina *et al.* 2003); portions of mature fish demonstrate a density dependent effect (Cardinale and Modin 1999; O'Brien 1999). Sherwood *et al.* (2007) note from field studies that a food type can affect reproductive potential; they report that a more pelagic diet (particularly capelin rather than shrimp) produced higher somatic condition, higher liver index (lipid stores) and greater

spawning potential (decreased incidence of atresia). Quality of eggs larvae can depend on fish attributes like size, condition and age of females (Marteinsdottir and Steinarsson 1998).

Haddock (Melanogrammus aeglefinus, Gadidae)

Haddock is a marine demersal fish of the eastern and western North Atlantic Ocean. Reproduction is iteroparous, in the winter-spring, with females maturing at 2-3 years of age (Clark 1959; Wigley 1999). Oocyte development is group synchronous, and there is a well defined gap in size between previtellogenic and vitellogenic oocytes (Hickling and Rutenberg 1936; Robb 1982; Clay 1989). Ovulation and spawning of pelagic eggs occurs in multiple batches (Hislop *et al.* 1978; Trippel and Neil 2004), however additional recruitment of vitellogenic oocytes during the spawning season does not occur, permitting annual fecundity estimation via determinate methods (Alonso-Fernandez *et al.* 2009). Fecundity estimates increase with size and age, and across different haddock stocks range from < 100K to > 1500K (summarised in Blanchard *et al.* 2003; Skjæraasen *et al.* 2013).

Haddock is a capital breeder. Variability in fecundity for different stocks and years has been related to various measures of condition including relative condition, Fulton's condition factor, and hepatosomatic index (Blanchard et al. 2003; Alonso-Fernandez et al. 2009). Laboratory studies have demonstrated increased fecundity and dry weight of eggs with increased ration (Hislop et al. 1978), but the fecundity of high ration haddock was not much higher than wild fish of the same weight. They concluded, therefore, that the upper limit of fecundity had been set prior to ration manipulations (which began in November), indicative of a capital spawning pattern. Although maximum fecundities may be established during early oocyte development, it appears that haddock are able to 'tune' (downregulate) fecundity in response to food quantity during the months leading up to spawning (evidenced by the ration effect they observed). The recruitment of haddock on the Scotian Shelf was found to be positively related to growth (length at age-4) and condition (weight at 50 cm), and they concluded true reproductive potential of the stock was poorly described by spawner biomass (Marshall and Frank 1999). More recently, Friedland et al. (2008, 2009) demonstrated strong correlations between recruitment of Georges Bank haddock and magnitude of the fall phytoplankton bloom the prior year, which they suggested enhanced the quantity of reproductive output. Thus, haddock appear able to exploit pulses of environmental productivity (more or better quality food) to increase their reproductive output. Condition can, however, have a variable effect on fecundity across years (Blanchard et al. 2003), possibly due to the timing of energy inputs available to produce eggs in relation to oocyte development/ovarian organization. This timing can be segregated into two major periods: 1) initially, fairly soon in the post-spawning period, the maximum number of eggs is set when the vitellogenic cohort is determined by group synchronous development; 2) later, closer to but still prior to spawning, downregulation may occur to right-size the egg numbers relative to the cumulative energy actually acquired and needed for oocyte maturation and ovulation. The relative importance of these two modes of fecundity regulation likely depends on properties of both the ecosystem (timing and type of energy pulses) and stock (biomass or condition).

Pouting (Trisopterus luscus, Gadidae)

A marine species found in the eastern North Atlantic Ocean, pouting is distributed from the Skagerrak and the British Isles to southern Morocco and into the western Mediterranean (Wheeler 1978; Whitehead *et al.* 1986). Pouting is an iteroparous breeder: females mature as age 1-2 for this short-lived species (5-9 yr) (Labarta *et al.* 1982; Puente 1988; Merayo 1996). Primary growth oocytes develop into secondary growth oocytes asynchronously, and mature oocytes develop group-synchronously, for an average of 20 batches during the spawning season (Alonso-Fernández *et al.* 2008). Despite the lack of a hiatus between primary and secondary oocytes, indicating asynchronous vitellogenesis, there appears to be no *de novo* vitellogenesis once a female becomes ripe, so determinate methods have been used to estimate potential annual fecundity for this species (Alonso-Fernández *et al.* 2008). Batch fecundity ranges from 1,900 to 80,000 eggs and potential annual fecundity ranges from 0.025 to 1.6 million follicles (Alonso-Fernández 2011). Potential annual fecundity, batch fecundity, spawning period length, and also egg size increase with fish size (Merayo 1996; Alonso-Fernández *et al.* 2008; Alonso-Fernández *et al.* 2011; Alonso-Fernández 2011; Alonso-Fernández and Saborido Rey 2011).

Pouting are mixed capital-income breeders (Alonso-Fernández and Saborido Rey, 2012). They accumulate energy reserves as lipids stored in the liver and use this for oocyte recruitment; however, energetic provision through concurrent feeding during a protracted (4–5 months) spawning season may also contribute to egg production. Spawning rates in the field and laboratory vary 3-4 fold (every 2-7 days), so it is possible that income breeding processes could affect batch sizes and spawning frequencies (Alonso-Fernández *et al.* 2011). No direct information regarding food effect is available for pouting; however, significant effects of energy reserves on reproductive potential have been detected. Potential annual fecundity and egg dry mass are positively related to fish size and energy reserves (Alonso-Fernández 2011). Also timing of gonad development seems to be affected by level of energy reserves, i.e., gonad development starts earlier in those females that acquire adequate levels of stored energy sooner than those that do not achieve such reserves (Alonso-Fernández and Saborido Rey 2011).

Inland silverside (*Menidia beryllina*, Atherinopsidae)

An estuarine and freshwater species of eastern North America, inland silverside has been introduced throughout the continent (Hubbs 1982, Coorey *et al.* 1985, Stoeckel and Heidinger 1988) and is used widely in laboratory experiments (Hemmer *et al.* 1992). Inland silverside is a short-lived (2 years), semelparous breeder. It typically matures in its second season, spawning during a short summer season in the north or a longer (spring-summer) season in the south (Middaugh and Hemmer 1992). In the south, temperatures may become too hot by late summer for continued spawning (Hubbs 1982), but when growth conditions are favorable, larger young-of-year females mature in their first year, which produces a minor, autumn-spawning pulse (Hubbs 1982; Middaugh and Hemmer 1992). Primary growth oocytes develop asynchronously into secondary growth oocytes so that annual fecundity is indeterminate (Coorey *et al.* 1985). Females produce batches of 200-2000 eggs; size-specific fecundity is much higher in freshwater lakes than estuaries (Hubbs 1982, Middaugh and Hemmer 1992). Inland silversides spawn cyclically, on or near the full and new moons (Hubbs 1982, Sherrill and Middaugh 1993).

Inland silversides are income breeders. Growth occurs principally in two discrete stanzas. First, rapid somatic growth occurs primarily in the first year, when approximately 27% of its total growth is completed prior to the onset of winter (Huber and Bengtson 1999b). In laboratory experiments, increasing temperatures without increasing photoperiod increase liver and visceral fat weight, which appears to be a pre-overwintering response rather than storage of surplus energy for reproduction (Huber and Bengtson 1999a). Silversides emerge emaciated from the winter and once temperatures and photoperiod increase sufficiently (~May) rapid growth of soma, liver, and gonad occurs simultaneously (Huber and Bengtson 1999a, b). In a short (< 2 month) laboratory experiment, more food provided to overwintered females induces larger fish with relatively larger gonads (Huber 1995). Hubbs (1982) remarked that ~14% daily ration produced ~7% egg production, and Huber and Bengtson (1999b) concluded that metabolic burnout of spawning adults cumulated in a disappearance of mature fish by the end of the second year. In some systems, where inland silversides are the dominant planktivore, this may be an important mechanism to reduce intraspecific competition (Chizinski et al. 2007). Efforts to extend these observations and experiments by use of bioenergetic models failed to predict growth of actively spawning adults, leading Chizinski et al. (2008) to conclude that such models require further development for short-lived species that experience such a brief, intense spawning period.

Medaka (Oryzias latipes, Adrianichthyidae)

A freshwater species of the western Pacific rim, medaka is a semelparous breeder: females spawn spring-autumn, offspring mature as early as 10-12 weeks, and females do not live more than one year in nature (Yamamoto and Yoshioka 1964; Howard *et al.* 1998; Dhillon and Fox 2004). Primary growth oocytes develop asynchronously into secondary growth oocytes so that annual fecundity is indeterminate (Wallace and Selman 1981a). Females can spawn daily batches of eggs over several months to typically produce 1000-2000 eggs in a lifetime (Yamamoto and Yoshioka 1964; Howard *et al.* 1998). Medaka is a small, short-lived, eurythermal fish, widely used in laboratory studies (Shima and Mitani 2004).

Medaka are primarily income breeders. In laboratory experiments, fish fed more food during the spawning period produced more eggs in general (Hirshfield 1980), but Hirshfield (1980) also showed that fatter fish laid more eggs early in the spawning period, especially at high temperatures that are associated with above average batch size. There was a cost to high reproductive effort, since the proportion of a female's energy budget allocated to reproduction was greater at higher temperature, and at some point more food no longer increased reproductive effort and was even associated with higher mortality. Dhillon and Fox (2004) showed that higher food consumption prior to maturation caused medaka to grow faster and mature earlier, at least up to the highest thermal limit (~33°C); however, at this upper thermal limit length and age at maturity increased, thereby demonstrating the independent effect of temperature at this extreme limit of bioenergetics.

Mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus, Fundulidae)

An estuarine species of the east coast of North America, from the Gulf of Maine to Florida, mummichog has subpopulations north and south of New York and New Jersey (Able and Felley 1986). It is an iteroparous breeder: maturation occurs in the first or second year for this short-lived (4 years) fish (Fritz and Garside 1975; Able 1990). Females spawn from spring to autumn (Wallace and Selman 1981b; Able 1990) and fecundity estimation is indeterminate. Primary growth oocytes develop asynchronously into secondary growth oocytes (Hsiao *et al.* 1994), and females ovulate batches either continuously in the north or with lunar periodicity in the south (Fig. 3m-r of main article; Taylor *et al.* 1979; Wallace and Selman 1981b; Hsiao *et al.* 1996). Egg size varies for a variety of reasons: it increases with female size; it is both larger and more variable in the southern population; it decreases as the season progresses (Marteinsdottir and Able 1988; Hsiao *et al.* 1994).

Mummichog is an income breeder, as evident from laboratory experiments. Fish starved for as few as three days stop maturing new oocytes, but renewed feeding for three days restores oocyte maturation (Wallace and Selman 1978). In a related experiment, oocyte maturation resumes in starved fish by injecting them with human chorionic gonadotropin, leading Wallace and Selman (1980, p. 352) to conclude: "Available food supply thus may be the ultimate control for egg production in the [northern] population". In the south, where mummichog has a more protracted spawning season, mature females kept and fed in the laboratory still stopped spawning after 5-8 cycles, demonstrating that other factors – particularly photoperiod influence on gonadotropin regulation – control length of the spawning season (Taylor 1986; Hsiao et al. 1994). Conover (1990) and Schultz et al. (1996) used a counter-gradient hypothesis to explain that northern fish spawn early and frequently compared to southern fish because the growing season is shorter in the north and size-selective predation is a selective mechanism during the overwintering period. Taylor (1986) experimentally increased feeding in spawning females, reporting that somatic growth increased but egg number did not, suggesting at an upper limit of batch size exists after which energy is diverted to maternal soma. Field work relating food amount to fecundity was pioneering but equivocal. In an early comparative study, Fritz and Garside (1975) compared fecundity between two lakes to suggest that higher fecundity was found in the lake that appeared to have lower productivity; however, this study inappropriately used a determinate fecundity method to measure annual fecundity. In addition, they did not provide direct estimates of productivity at the appropriate trophic level for mature mummichog. In a review of field data, Wallace and Selman (1981b) asked if latitudinal differences in spawning frequency were related to food, but they concluded that this approach was confounded by the subpopulation structure across latitudes. Although egg size variations are well documented within and among mummichog populations, and larger eggs are associated with higher egg and larval survival (Marteinsdottir and Able 1992), we are not aware of any work investigating food effects on mummichog egg size or other proxies for egg quality. Dramatic variations in mummichog spawning ecology occurs over very small spatial and temporal scales (meters, days; Able and Hagan 2003; Hunter et al. 2009), and common garden experiments are possible, so continued work with this species as an experimental model is warranted.

Threespine stickleback (Gasterosteus aculeatus, Gasterosteidae)

Residing in both freshwater and coastal systems of the northern hemisphere, the threespine stickleback is an iteroparous breeder: Females start to spawn at 2-3 years old and most (but not all) fish die after their first breeding season (Reimchen 1992). Several clutches of eggs are produced over a breeding season that lasts from spring to early summer (Wootton 1973; Wallace and Selman 1979; Ali and Wootton 1999a). Annual fecundity is indeterminate. Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage in an asynchronous manner (Wallace and Selman 1979). The minimum observed inter-spawning interval is 3 days (Fletcher and Wootton 1995).

Threespine stickleback is largely an income breeder. There is strong experimental evidence of the effect of food amount on egg production (Wootton 1973; 1977; Ali and Wootton 1999a, b; Fletcher and Wootton 1995; Wootton and Fletcher 2009). Specifically, low food intake during the breeding season increases the inter-spawning interval, which reduces annual fecundity. Spawning frequency is very sensitive to food intake but batch fecundity is less so (although it is significantly lower at low rations) and egg characteristics (size, quality) are relatively conservative. Mean reproductive investment per inter-spawning interval is higher at the highest rations but it declines over successive spawnings irrespectively of ration. The study of Wooton and Fletcher (2009) is one of the most comprehensive studies of the effect of food amount on reproductive parameters of a batch spawner along the course of the breeding season.

European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*, Moronidae)

A marine species of the eastern North Atlantic Ocean, European seabass ranges from the British Isles to North Africa (Vinagre *et al.* 2009). It is an iteroparous breeder: at about three years old females start spawning offshore during winter-spring (Felip *et al.* 2001; Pawson *et al.* 2007; Vinagre *et al.* 2009). Oocytes appear to develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage and from secondary growth to mature oocytes in a group-synchronous manner, but the size hiatus that characterises group-synchrony is not unambiguous (Mayer *et al.* 1990). Annual potential fecundity, measured with a determinate method, is dependent on fish size, and ranges from 0.5 to 2.0 million (Wassef and Emary 1989; Mayer *et al.* 1990). European seabass spawn 3-4 batches during the spawning season; batch fecundity declines rapidly with each successive batch (Mylonas *et al.* 2003).

European seabass appear to be a mixed capital-income spawner, although experimental studies, together with the ambiguity of oocyte synchrony, make this conclusion preliminary. In the lab, reduced food provided to females spawning for their second time produced no obvious effects on immediate reproductive potential (Cerdá *et al.* 1994a). Compared to females fed full rations, females fed half rations spawned about the same number of eggs, and although these eggs were smaller, the egg quality was about the same (i.e., as measured by percent buoyant and larval survival to day 40). Nonetheless, females fed half rations grew less, in both length and weight, and had significantly lower condition than females fed full rations so that reproduction is prioritised over somatic growth. Therefore, a reduced food amount does not immediately reduce reproductive potential but presumably lowers future reproductive potential (see above, size effect

on fecundity). European seabass is cultured for food, particularly around the Mediterranean Sea, so the lack of knowledge of the effect of food quality on reproductive potential is a bottleneck for hatchery production (Carrillo *et al.* 1995; Bell *et al.* 1997; Bruce *et al.* 1999). Artificial diets have produced poor egg quality, in terms of buoyancy and hatch rates, compared to natural diets (Navas *et al.* 2001). Fish fed artificial diets with about 32-33% protein and carbohydrate showed several adverse effects compared to fish fed diets with higher protein and lower carbohydrate compositions (Cerdá *et al.* 1994b). The former group produced fewer eggs, these eggs were less buoyant, fewer hatched, and there were more deformities among those eggs that did hatch. A better understanding of how diet composition affects reproductive potential relative to the reproductive strategy of European seabass has immediate practical importance.

Largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*, Centrarchidae)

A freshwater species native to North America, largemouth bass originate in the St. Lawrence (Great Lakes), Mississippi River basin and Atlantic drainages. This popular sport fish has been widely introduced elsewhere including the tropics and high elevation lakes (Dadzie and Aloo 1990; Martin et al. 1999; Lorenzoni et al. 2002; Curtis and Wehrly 2006; Neal and Noble 2006). Within the native range, northern largemouth bass (M. salmoides salmoides) is considered genetically distinct from Florida largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides floridanus), naturally occurring in south Florida, but these types interbreed to yield an intergrade subspecies (Isely et al. 1987; Kassler et al. 2002; Rogers et al. 2006). Males exhibit parental care by building and defending nests, and post-spawning brood care can last up to a month. Largemouth bass are iteroparous breeders: maturity occurs by age 3-5 years and longevity is 24 years in the northern extent of the range (Beitinger and Fitzpatrick 1979; Curtis and Wehrly 2006). However, introduced populations in the tropics show very different traits, where maturity occurs as early as four months and longevity decreases to as few as three years (Beitinger and Fitzpatrick 1979; Neal and Noble 2006). Similarly, spawning duration shows a clear latitudinal gradient: less than a month in Canada, about two months in northern temperate areas of the U.S., 3-4 months in southern temperate areas, more than four months in S. Florida and S. Texas, six months in Puerto Rico and eight months in Equatorial Kenya (Lamkin 1900; Stranahan 1908; Clugston 1966; Jackson 1979; Maraldo and MacCrimmon 1981; Isely et al. 1987; Dadzie and Aloo 1990; Gran 1995; Gross et al. 2002; Rogers et al. 2006; Waters and Noble 2004; Curtis and Wehrly 2006). Rogers et al. (2006) demonstrated both a temperature and genetic influence on spawning periodicity of largemouth bass for Florida and intergrade subspecies just within the latitudinal range of Florida (31–25°N). Growth rates increase from the northern range to the subtropics, but at more tropical locations it appears that excess allocation to reproduction results in a trade-off with annual growth (Neal and Noble 2006).

Based upon field and controlled rearing studies, individual female largemouth bass have been noted to ovulate multiple batches (Lamkin 1900; Stranahan 1908; Kelley 1962; Jackson 1979; Gran 1995). Their oocytes appear to develop asynchronously from the primary to the secondary growth phase and group synchronously through maturation (comparing figures of oocyte size progression in Kelley 1962; Timmons *et al.* 1980; and Gran 1995). While investigators recognise the potential for extended seasonality and multiple spawning in Florida and intergrade largemouth bass (Rogers 2006; Neal and Noble 2006) there may be some

uncertainty over the seasonality and consequent reproductive potential of northern largemouth bass. Recent interpretations of the reproductive timing describe northern largemouth bass having evolved fairly brief spawning periods so that offspring match the seasonal peak in prey availability (DeVries et al. 2009). These interpretations may in part be based upon earlier investigations of reproductive histology that suggest northern largemouth bass have only one spawning episode (James 1946; Goubier et al. 1997). Jackson (1979), noted contrary results to James (1946) and the latitudinal trend (above) certainly suggests that extended seasonality and multiple spawnings occur throughout much of the natural and introduced range. Further, Carlson (1973) and Jackson (1979) have induced protracted spawning in northern largemouth bass by manipulating photoperiod and temperature which suggests a good deal of plasticity may exist. Adult *Micropterus spp.* (largemouth and smallmouth bass) have been noted to be inhibited from spawning (skipped spawning) due to several factors including temperature, photoperiod, eutrophication, dietary steroids, crowding and sensitivity to rearing conditions (Osburn 1923; Chew 1972, 1974; Smith 1976; Jackson 1979; Cantin 1987; Raffetto et al. 1990; Rosenblum et al. 1995; Martin et al. 1998, 1999). The descriptions of inhibited spawning appears similar in that secondary oocytes begin maturation but become arrested, followed by prolonged resorption of degenerating follicles. Workers often referred to this condition as "over-ripened" however in a review of omitted annual reproduction, Rideout et al. (2005) referred to this as the "reabsorbing" type of omission.

All fecundity references to date applied a determinate methodology (Kelley 1962; Timmons *et al.* 1980; Dadzie and Aloo 1990; Brown and Maceina 2002; Lorenzoni *et al.* 2002; Rodriguez-Sanchez *et al.* 2009). However, there is strong evidence that largemouth bass exhibits an indeterminate fecundity type: 1) There is no hiatus between primary and secondary growth oocytes suggesting asynchronous development 2) they are a batch spawner with extended (two to several months) spawning season that increases from temperate to tropical reaches of their range, and 3) they exhibit a tropical growth pattern that can be energetically accounted for in females by substantial energy allocation to reproduction in the form of an indeterminate multiple spawning strategy (Neal and Noble 2006).

Largemouth bass show a high degree of capital energy allocation based upon studies conducted in temperate areas. Condition indices reflect annual feeding and energy allocation patterns (Heidinger and Crawford 1977; Adams et al. 1982; Brown and Murphy 2004). Somatic growth is maximised and females build gonads and store visceral fat in the fall. This coincides with a piscivore foraging advantage in this season (Adams et al. 1982; Brown and Murphy 2004). There is evidence for winter to early spring translocation of more energy from muscle, mesenteric and visceral stores, and liver to complete gonad development by early spring; the liver appears not to be the long-term storage organ seen in other fish families (Adams et al. 1982; Brown and Murphy 2004). Consumption (by females) increases in spring and remains high during spawning and post-spawning periods. So some degree of income allocation to spring reproduction may occur in temperate areas (Adams et al. 1982). An inference from Neal and Noble (2006) is that there is much higher energy allocation to reproduction in the tropics, where there is less seasonal pattern to consumption: thus energy allocation should follow an increased income pathway. The latitudinal shift from capital to income allocation was independently predicted using a dynamic state model incorporating largemouth bass bioenergetic functions (Garvey and Marschall 2003). But the model limited reproductive allocation to no more than 10% of wet mass (deterministic assumption) and the prediction of income investment at lower

latitudes was only distinguishable when high rations were provided. The few investigations of food and reproduction have been directed at broodstock management. Pelleted diets with increased lipid, protein and balanced archidonic acid content resulted in increased growth, mesenteric fat and fecundity in comparison to either pellets or forage fish with lesser amounts of these ingredients (Snow 1970; Rosenblum et al. 1994; and Rosenblum et al. 1995). There is some evidence that energetic allocations are likely a function of size or age. Goodgame and Miranda (1993) cite an M.S. thesis (Reagan 1969) that made proximate analysis measures and documents that fat percentage increases exponentially with length. Goodgame and Miranda (1993) suggest that length-related differences in energy reserves may allow larger largemouth bass to spawn earlier, which they documented, but gave no inference about the potential to spawn more times over a longer duration. Largemouth bass is probably one of the best known species regarding energetics of growth, feeding and metabolism but surprisingly little is known regarding the effects of food on female reproductive allocation. A clear gradient of life history response to latitude is evident with potentially much higher reproductive allocation moving towards the tropics. Renewed investigation of the reproductive biology would likely improve our understanding of largemouth bass life history tradeoffs and recruitment.

Pumpkinseed (*Lepomis gibbosus*, Centrarchidae)

A freshwater species native to eastern temperate habitats of North America, New Brunswick to South Carolina, pumpkinseed has been broadly introduced throughout North America, South America and Europe and is considered invasive in some areas (Copp et al. 2004). It is an iteroparous breeder, wherein males build nests and exhibit parental care. Pumpkinseed live to about 8 years in the wild and mature between ages 2 to 5, but these traits vary across the range and in introduced populations (Deacon and Keast 1987). There is a springsummer spawning season in temperate areas but spawning occurs year-round in the tropics (Magalhães and Ratton 2005). Females are best characterised as multiple ovulators, spawning in batches (Fox and Crivelli 2001; Zieba et al. 2010). While pumpkinseed fecundity has most often been estimated using determinate methodology (Deacon and Keast 1987; Crivelli and Mestre 1988; Fox and Keast 1991; Gutiérrez-Estrada et al. 2000; Vila-Gispert and Moreno-Amich 2000) there is strong evidence that the fecundity type is indeterminate due to batch spawning, extended spawning seasons across a latitudinal gradient and lack of size hiatus between primary and secondary growth oocytes supporting de novo vitellogenesis. An indeterminate approach was undertaken by Fox and Crivelli (1998) who showed that populations in Canada and France allocated between 11.5 and 27% of prespawning biomass to reproduction. Fox and Crivelli (1998) considered these levels of allocation to be relatively low compared to other multiple spawning species.

Pumpkinseed females exhibit an income pattern of energy allocation to reproduction with evidence that energy for oocyte maturation is gained just prior to or during the reproductive period (Justus and Fox 1994). Overall body condition shows little seasonal fluctuation, however, the liver and gonad both increase in mass coincident with the onset of spawning (Crivelli and Mestre 1988). Field studies support the linkage between food and reproduction with observations of stunted growth, poor condition, reduced fecundity, and reduced egg size attributed to intraspecific competition and low food availability (Deacon and Keast 1987; Danylchuk and Fox

1994; Copp *et al.* 2004). A high proportion of small mature females may not reproduce, or may delay reproduction in a given season if food resources are inadequate (Danylchuk and Fox 1994). In general, a high degree of plasticity of growth, maturity and fecundity is noted although effects are not isolated in field studies. This plasticity together with increased reproductive allocation moving towards the tropics and high r-selected life history endpoints may explain success in introductions and invasions.

White crappie (*Pomoxis annularis*, Centrarchidae)

A freshwater species native to temperate areas of eastern North America (Canada to the northern coast of the Gulf of Mexico) and introduced to western North America, white crappie is an iteroparous breeder: it matures from age-1 to age-3 and lives about 10 years (Hansen 1951; Carlander 1977; Bunnell 2002). Similar to other centrarchids, males build and defend nests. There is a latitudinal gradient in spawning duration; about 1 month in the northern range and 2-3 months in Florida (Pine and Allen 2001). Spawning also begins about a month earlier in the southern range (late March-May in Texas) compared to the northern range (May-June in Ontario) (Schloemer 1947; Thomas and Kilambi 1981). Previous studies assume a determinate fecundity type (Mathur *et al.* 1979; Thomas and Kilambi 1981; Baker and Heidinger 1994; Dubuc and DeVries 2002) and one to a few ovulations per mature individual per season have been noted (Siefert 1968; Thomas and Kilambi 1981) which supports this assumption. Vitellogenesis appears to be group synchronous but no clear size hiatus is evident between primary and secondary growth oocytes (Thomas and Kilambi 1981; Pope *et al.* 1996) indicating some uncertainty.

White crappie gain and store energy for reproduction months before the spawning period consistent with being a capital breeder. Following the summer growth period, condition increases and gonads develop in the fall well ahead of spring spawning (Neumann and Murphy 1992; Gabelhouse 1991; Bunnell and Marshall 2003). Field studies, rearing experiments and model observations link the effect of food on reproductive output. Based upon field studies accounting for lake productivity, high food availability is associated with high fall condition (total lipids, relative weight, and liver weight), which in turn is correlated with ovarian development in the pre-spawning period (Neumanm and Murphy 1992). Further, condition level and ovarian energy density is a function of size or age (Neumann and Murphy 1992; Gablehouse 1991; Dubuc and DeVries 2002; Bunnell et al. 2005). Based on an outdoor pool experiment established four months prior to spawning, Bunnell et al. (2007) found that high-fed females increased egg size and built both liver mass and gonads directly. In contrast, intermediate- and low-fed females sacrificed liver stores to develop gonads. They also found that 8% of low- and intermediate-fed females did not develop gonads which is similar to the average reported (9%) from 7 reservoirs. As a criterion to match gonad investment patterns observed in field studies, an individual-based model predicted that fall allocation to ovaries occurred in response to the risk of poor spring feeding conditions rather than recent summer feeding success (Bunnell et al. 2003). While field studies reveal that productivity of closed freshwater systems affects adult condition and reproductive development, the results are equivocal regarding reproduction and recruitment success. Spawning stock biomass is a significant predictor of recruitment in one study (Bunnell et al. 2006) but not in others (Maceina 2003). Crappies are notorious for variable recruitment in

lakes and reservoirs—presumably reflecting differing productivity levels and hydrodynamic conditions acting on both adult and larval stages. As a consequence, explanatory mechanisms are often based upon inference due to uncontrolled effects (Maceina 2003; Bunnell *et al.* 2006). White crappie appear to be rather fixed in their reproductive timing and capital allocation pattern over a broad latitudinal gradient in contrast to other centrarchids.

Eurasian and yellow perch (Perca fluviatilis, P. flavescens, Percidae)

Two freshwater species of temperate and subarctic regions of Eurasia and North America, the Eurasian and yellow perch became separated about 8 million years ago (Craig 2000); they are so similar in morphology, physiology, behavior and ecology that they can be considered biologically equivalent (Thorpe 1977). Both species are iteroparous and spawn once a year in spring (Thorpe 1977; Treasurer 1981; Craig 2000; Heibo et al. 2005). There is considerable variation in the rates of growth, maturation, and fecundity of perch populations, which demonstrates lower reproductive investment at higher latitudes (Heibo et al. 2005) and life history tradeoffs resulting in stunting (Jansen 1996). Several aspects of perch reproduction are worth mentioning: two primordial ovaries are fused into a single organ, and all eggs are shed at once in a single gelatinous ribbon (Treasurer and Holliday 1981). In addition to total spawning at the individual level, spawning is highly synchronised at the population level often concentrated to a few days (Tsai and Gibson 1971). Perch have group-synchronous oocyte development, with a distinct cohort of advancing oocytes suitable for determinate fecundity estimation (Treasurer and Holliday 1981; Sulistyo et al. 1998). Fecundity increases with perch size and age, and varies widely both annually and across populations (Tsai and Gibson 1971; Sztramko and Teleki 1977; Thorpe 1977; Treasurer 1981; Jansen 1996; Lauer et al. 2005).

Perch are extreme capital breeders. Perch feed opportunistically on insects, crustaceans, crayfish and fish (Craig 1980; Thorpe 1977) which can influence age at first reproduction (Hayes and Taylor 1990). If suitable fish prey are present, perch become piscivorous and attain greater growth rates and sizes but delay maturation (Heibo et al. 2005). After spawning, they recover rapidly, as a new batch of oocytes may begin vitellogenesis as soon as one month after spawning (Treasurer and Holliday 1981). The bulk of energy investment into the gonad occurs during autumn but continues through the winter as perch feed even under the ice. Several studies have suggested some of the annual variation in fecundity of perch is related to food supply (Petrovski 1960; Tsai and Gibson 1971; Thorpe 1977; Craig 1980). The inclusion of energy allocated to reproduction in yellow perch bioenergetic models also provides evidence that high fecundity in spring – and strong recruitment to follow – is related to the condition of females in the preceding autumn (Henderson et al. 2000). It is also apparent that not all mature perch females spawn annually (i.e. skip spawning), and this skipped spawning is related to the energetic condition in the preceding year (Henderson et al. 2000; Holmgren 2003). There is no evidence of downregulation of fecundity through atresia in perch, but occasionally spawning may be disrupted (due to environmental or behavioral factors), as evident by observations of egg-bound females and massive postovulatory degeneration (Treasurer and Holiday 1981).

Walleye and pikeperch (Sander vitreus, S. lucioperca, Percidae)

Two freshwater species of temperate and subarctic regions of North America and Eurasia, walleye and pikeperch are closely related (Sloss *et al.* 2004). Both species are iteroparous and spawn once a year in spring (Hokanson 1977; Lappalainen *et al.* 2003; Rennie *et al.* 2008). There is wide variation in the rates of growth, maturation and fecundity of *Sander* populations across latitude (Lappalainen *et al.* 2003; Rennie *et al.* 2008). They are total ovulators and lay their eggs in a benthic nest (Hokanson 1977; Lappalainen *et al.* 2003). They have groupsynchronous oocyte development (Malison *et al.* 1994; Malison and Held 1996), suitable for determinate fecundity estimation (Carlander 1945; Wolfert 1969). Fecundity increases with size and age (Lappalainen *et al.* 2003). Slower growing populations live longer so they have an equivalent lifetime egg production compared to faster growing populations (Craig *et al.* 1995).

Sander are extreme capital breeders. After spawning, they begin to store energy and develop a new batch of vitellogenic oocytes (Golovanenko et al. 1970). Ovarian lipids are derived from visceral fat deposits, and gonadal development will stop if there is insufficient surplus energy through the winter (Henderson et al. 1996). Relative fecundity was positively correlated with higher ovarian lipids, but whole-body lipid concentrations was negatively correlated with smaller egg size, suggesting a compensatory mechanism that could limit reproductive potential (Moles et al. 2008). Annual variation in fecundity has been related to fish age, habitat quality (i.e., dissolved oxygen), and food supply (Lappalainen et al. 2003). Increased population density is associated with delayed maturity (Schueller et al. 2005), decreased population density was associated with higher fecundity (Baccante and Reid 1988), and a newly transplanted population of walleye had extraordinarily high fecundity (Maule and Horton 1985). Year class strength has been positively correlated with the amount of surplus energy available to spawners (Henderson and Nepszy 1994). Madenjian et al. (1996) reported a correlation between shad abundance and subsequent walleye recruitment.

Pebbled butterflyfish (Chaetodon multicinctus, Chaetodontidae)

A tropical, marine species, pebbled butterflyfish is endemic to the Hawaiian Islands (Craig *et al.* 2010). It is a semelparous breeder: maturation occurs at about 13 months and a series of multiple spawning bouts, primarily in winter-spring, last as long as one year (Tricas 1986; Tricas and Hiramoto 1989). Fecundity estimation is indeterminate. Primary oocytes develop asynchronously to the secondary growth stage, and secondary growth oocytes develop group-synchronously to the mature stage (Tricas 1986; Tricas and Hiramoto 1989). Batch fecundity, which range from 1,000 to 20,000 eggs, increases with fish size, but other factors such as season or lunar cycle confound the fecundity-size relationship (Tricas 1986).

Pebbled butterflyfish are mixed capital-income breeders. Females spawn continuously for months, but Tricas (1986) noted that both sexes deposit large visceral fat stores during summer, prior to the reproductive season. Summer coincides with maximal growth of corals, their primary prey. Living in pairs, large males defend the largest territories and mate with the largest females (Tricas 1986; Driscoll and Driscoll 1988). Corals with the highest energy content and lowest handling costs are preferred prey, and territory size is a function of food abundance and

competitor density; however, corals are inherently low in energy so pebbled butterflyfish spend over 90% of their time budget feeding on scleractinian coral polyps (Tricas 1986; 1989a; 1989b; Aeby 2002). Thus, regardless of the energy gained by feeding during a protracted spawning period (e.g., income breeding), Tricas (1986) concluded that the length of the spawning period itself appeared to be limited by the amount of energy stored as fat during the summer preceding this period.

Spiny chromis (Acanthochromis polyacanthus, Pomacentridae)

A reef-associated marine species of the Indo-West Pacific (Allen 1991, Planes et al. 2001), spiny chromis is an iteroparous breeder: breeding generally begins in 3-year old fish (Thresher 1985) but may occur among 2-year olds on outer-shelf reefs (Kingsford and Hughes 2005), and as early as nine months among juveniles hatched and reared in captivity (Kavanagh 2000). Spawning occurs between monogamous pairs, mostly during austral spring and early summer (October-January) (Thresher 1985; Hilder and Pankhurst 2003). Primary growth oocytes develop group synchronously into secondary growth oocytes, but they can do so multiple times within a year, so that annual fecundity is indeterminate (Nakazono 1993; Pankhurst et al. 1999). Several hundred eggs are produced per ovulated batch (Donelson et al. 2008). Typically only one or two batches of mature eggs are produced each season (Thresher 1985), but up to five batches were produced in laboratory conditions with high ration (Donelson et al. 2008). Although they have the capacity to spawn more than one batch in a season, in nature, multiple broods are a response to loss of a mate or egg predation. Another special reproductive feature of this species is that parental care occurs for both eggs and fry (there is no independent planktonic larval stage), which makes this species a reliable experimental model in the laboratory (Robertson 1973; Donelson et al. 2008).

Spiny chromis is primarily a capital breeder. If the first clutch is successful, no further clutches are spawned, and energy and time is diverted to parental care. Field-based studies suggest that food abundance or energy reserves limits spiny damselfish reproductive output. For example, high densities of adults are associated with delayed spawning and reduced initial clutch size (Thresher 1983), as well as reduced steroidogenic capacity and lower fecundity (Pankhurst *et al.* 2008). Also, when multiple clutches are produced within a year, subsequent batches have distinctly reduced reproductive output (Thresher 1985; Pankhurst *et al.* 1999). In laboratory experiments, breeding pairs fed high amounts of food for two months before breeding had better condition, commenced breeding earlier, had higher reproductive output (number of eggs × mean egg volume), and their eggs exhibited increased survival during embryogenesis than breeding pairs fed low rations (Donelson *et al.* 2008). Experimentally manipulated high food rations, resulting in high condition of breeders, also improved larval quality (Donelson *et al.* 2009). Finally, increased temperatures, well above typically encountered now but postulated under certain climate change scenarios, reduce reproductive output of spiny chromis (Donelson *et al.* 2010).

Lesser sandeel (Ammodytes marinus, Ammodytidae)

A marine species of the eastern North Atlantic, lesser sandeel inhabitats offshore sandbanks (Mitchell *et al.* 1998). It is an iteroparous breeder: maturation occurs in the first year, and over half the fish are mature in the second year, with a maximum age of three years (Boulcott *et al.* 2007). Females spawn during winter (December-January; Winslade 1974b; Gauld and Hutcheon 1990) and fecundity estimation is determinate (Bergstad *et al.* 2001; Boulcott and Wright 2008). Primary growth oocytes develop group synchronously into secondary growth oocytes during summer (Boulcott and Wright 2008). Specific information on total spawning for lesser sandeel was unavailable, but the congener, *A. personatus*, spawns only one batch per year (Yamada 2009).

Lesser sandeel are extreme capital breeders. They bury in the sediment during most of autumn to spring, such that allocation of energy for reproduction comes from energy stored during the late-spring to summer feeding period (Winslade 1974a; Boulcott and Wright 2008). In a laboratory experiment, the growth of age-1, tagged individuals was followed from early summer (June) to just prior to spawning (November), where Boulcott and Wright (2008) observed a critical period for maturity determination. Fish in better condition during the early summer – but not later – were more likely advance a clutch of secondary oocytes and thereby mature and spawn the following winter.

Longjaw mudsucker (Gillichthys mirabilis, Gobiidae)

An estuarine species of the west coast of North America, longjaw mudsucker ranges from central California to Baja California (Barlow 1963). It is an iteroparous breeder: maturation occurs in the first year for this short-lived (4-6 years) fish, and females spawn from spring to autumn (Walker *et al.* 1961; de Vlaming 1972a; McGourty *et al.* 2009). Fecundity estimation is indeterminate. Primary growth oocytes develop asynchronously into secondary growth oocytes (de Vlaming 1972a), and females spawn 2-3 times per spawning season (Walker *et al.* 1961; Barlow and de Vlaming 1972). Barlow (1963) and de Vlaming (1972a) recognised a prolonged spawning season by the population, in association with prolonged seasonal productivity, but the short period of batch spawning by individuals demonstrates that spawning by the population of females was not synchronised.

Longjaw mudsucker are primarily capital breeders. In one experiment, gonads regressed when food was withheld completely from females prior to spawning. In other experiments, gonads recrudesced when food was withheld from post-spawning, regressed females, but at great cost to stored energy (de Vlaming 1971). Under more typical condition, somatic growth is fastest in the hot summer months when gonads are regressed (Walker *et al.* 1961), demonstrating that longjaw mudsuckers typically partition somatic and reproductive growth into separate seasons. This species is tolerant of wide range of environmental conditions (e.g., Gracey *et al.* 2001; Evans and Somero 2008; Logan and Somero 2008), and in addition to food-related effects, the effects of the abiotic and physiological mechanisms on this gobiid's reproductive biology have been investigated experimentally (de Vlaming 1971; 1972b; 1972c).

Turbot (Scophthalmus maximus, Scophthalmidae)

A temperate, marine species of the eastern North Atlantic Ocean, turbot is distributed from Norway to the Iberian peninsula (Millner *et al.* 2005). It is an iteroparous breeder: at 4-5 years old females start spawning during summers (Jones 1974; Roff 1981). Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stage in a group-synchronous manner, and turbot ovulate in batches (Jones 1974; McEvoy 1984; Bromley *et al.* 2000). Potential annual fecundity, measured with a determinate method, ranges from 1 to 8 million eggs (Jones 1974; Bromley *et al.* 1986). Spawning frequency, batch fecundity, and potential annual fecundity all increase with size and age, but egg diameters decline with each successive, within-year batch (Bromley *et al.* 1986; McEvoy and McEvoy 1991; Mugnier *et al.* 2000).

Turbot are capital breeders, as evident from experimental adjustment to the timing and amount of food with respect to specific stages of vitellogenesis. Reduced rations during vitellogenesis, 4 months prior to spawning, were particularly disruptive by preventing maturation in significant numbers of females (Bromley *et al.* 2000). Reduced rations prior to vitellogenesis, 4-8 months to spawning, followed by full rations during vitellogenesis, had less of an effect, but still produced smaller gonads and lower fecundity (Bromley *et al.* 2000). The experimental design used by Bromley *et al.* (2000) was specifically compelling because all fish started as a similar size, and since they were feed the same amount during the experiment (i.e., the full, half, or reduced rations were staggered), spawning fish were of similar sizes at the end of the experiment. The decline in egg size for individual females as spawning progresses is also evidence of depleted yolk reserves by the end of the spawning season (McEvoy and McEvoy 1991; 1992).

Plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa*, Pleuronectidae)

A temperate, marine species of the eastern North Atlantic Ocean, plaice is distributed from Norway to the Iberian peninsula (Millner *et al.* 2005). It is an iteroparous breeder: nearly all females mature by age 5 in this long-lived fish (Bagenal 1966; Roff 1981; Rijnsdorp *et al.* 1991). Females spawn in spring (Barr 1963) and fecundity estimation is determinate (Horwood 1990; Urban 1991). Primary growth oocytes develop group synchronously into secondary growth oocytes (Horwood 1990). Females spawn in batches, and batch fecundity increases with fish size (Urban 1991).

Plaice are extreme capital breeders. They feed during an extended post-spawning period, when soma growth and total energy increases steadily in summer and autumn (Rijnsdorp 1989; 1990). They fast during winter, prior to spawning, when energy is transferred from the soma to the gonad. They do not feed prior to the spawning season and they draw heavily on protein and lipid reserves for spawning (Dawson and Grimm 1980; Rijnsdorp and Ibelings 1989). Bagenal (1966) and Nash *et al.* (2000) associated high fecundity in stock areas with lower density, inferring better feeding. The decision of how much energy to devote to spawning apparently occurs during the feeding season. In the laboratory, small rations led to skipped spawning, when no vitellogenic clutch developed (Horwood *et al.* 1989; Rijnsdorp 1990; Kennedy *et al.* 2008).

Plaice collected at sea have very low levels of atresia (Armstrong *et al.* 2001), and in the lab, higher levels of atresia induced by small rations is only evident well before spawning (Horwood *et al.* 1989; Kennedy *et al.* 2008). Therefore, plaice set up their annual fecundity irreversibly, well before the spawning season.

Winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*, Pleuronectidae)

A marine-estuarine species of the western North Atlantic Ocean, winter flounder spawn earliest (winter-spring) south of New England and later (spring-summer) in Canada (Pereira et al. 1999; Wuenschel et al. 2009). It is an iteroparous breeder: females spawn first at about 2-3 years old (Roff 1981; Witherell and Burnett 1993; McBride et al. 2013). Oocytes develop from primary growth to secondary growth stages in a group-synchronous manner (Dunn 1970). Oocytes develop from secondary growth to mature stages synchronously (Fig. 3g-1 of main article; Topp 1968; Burton 1998; Wuenschel et al. 2010; Rowinski et al. 2010). Mature females may skip spawning in some years, but if not, one clutch of secondary oocytes develop per year with little evidence of atretic down regulation of this advancing clutch of oocytes (Tyler and Dunn 1976; McElroy et al. 2013). Therefore, a determinate fecundity method and estimates of potential annual fecundity should be similar to realised annual fecundity. Potential annual fecundity is typically 100s of thousands of eggs and as high as 1.5 million eggs per female (Smith 1898; McElroy et al. 2013). Females can be best characterised as total ovulators that behaviourally spawn in batches; they ripen their eggs in a single wave (Burton 1998). Fully ripe eggs (which are demersal) have been observed to be released in several spawning events over several days (Stoner et al. 1999).

Winter flounder are extreme capital breeders. Immediately after spawning, they develop a clutch of vitellogenic oocytes for the following year. However, some mature fish will skip spawn. Whether to skip or spawn depends on nutritional status of the fish early in the feeding season (i.e., summer). As demonstrated experimentally in the laboratory, it is condition not age that determines whether a female will skip; skipping occurs when a vitellogenic clutch of oocytes does not advance in post-spawning females (Tyler and Dunn 1976; Burton and Idler 1984, 1987; Burton 1991, 1994). In the field, skip spawning appears to range from zero on Georges Bank, less than 5% in southern New England, but as high as 10-30% in more northern populations (Burton 1999; Wuenschel *et al.* 2009; McBride *et al.* 2013; McElroy *et al.* 2013). Regulatory options for winter flounder have been considered based on egg-per-recruit models (Boreman *et al.* 1993) but because skip spawning will lower estimates of spawning stock biomass, this needs to be explicitly accounted for (Burton 1999).

Sole (Solea solea, Soleidae)

A temperate, marine species of the eastern North Atlantic Ocean, sole is distributed from Norway to the Iberian peninsula (Millner *et al.* 2005). It is an iteroparous breeder: nearly all females are mature by age 4 in this medium-lived (9 years) fish (Roff 1981; Rijnsdorp *et al.* 1991; Teixeira and Cabral 2010). Females spawn in spring, earliest in the south and latest in the north (Koutsikopoulos and Lacroix 1992; Fox *et al.* 2000; Teixeira and Cabral 2010). Various

studies have advocated that a determine fecundity method can be used in northern populations (Horwood and Greer Walker 1990; Witthames and Greer Walker 1995; Witthames *et al.* 2009). Nonetheless, primary growth oocytes develop asynchronously into secondary growth oocytes in many if not all populations (Urban 1991; Witthames and Greer Walker 1995; Rijnsdorp and Witthames 2005). Females spawn in batches, and uncharacteristically for a fish, there is no correlation between batch fecundity and fish size (Urban 1991; Witthames and Greer Walker 1995). Potential annual fecundity is related to fish size (Millner *et al.* 1991), but very high levels (~28%) of atretic vitellogenic oocytes have been observed during the spawning season (Witthames and Greer Walker 1995; Armstrong *et al.* 2001).

Sole have been referred to as both capital and income breeders (Witthames et al. 1995; Kjesbu and Witthames 2007). A direct connection between feeding and reproductive potential was not established but may be inferred by the relationship that fish with higher condition during the spawning season had higher fecundity (Millner et al. 1991). Feeding is reduced during the spawning period but does not stop (Devauchelle et al. 1987; Molinero and Flos 1992). The spawning period in the northern part of its range has been estimated at 60 days (Armstrong et al. 2001), so it is evident that income contributions can occur during breeding. Laboratory experiments have not, however, focused attention on the link between nutrition or energy and reproductive potential. Nonetheless, Millner et al. (1991) report substantial variations in fecundity between stock areas and years, Devauchelle et al. (1987) report that fecundity was negatively affected by high temperatures during oogenesis, and Bromley (2003) and Kjesbu and Witthames (2007) report that larger females have higher reproductive potential than smaller females. Since sole appears to straddle the capital-income continuum, demonstrates clinal variation in life history traits along a latitudinal gradient (Türkmen 2003; Mollet et al. in press), and is a frequent subject for aquaculture (Imsland et al. 2003), this species is well suited for further study.

REFERENCES

- Able, K., Hagan, S. (2003) Impact of common reed, *Phragmites australis*, on essential fish habitat: Influence on reproduction, embryological development, and larval abundance of mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). *Estuaries and Coasts* **26**, 40-50.
- Able, K.W. (1990) Life history patterns of New Jersey salt marsh killifishes. *The Bulletin of the New Jersey Academy of Science* **35**, 23-30.
- Able, K.W., Felley, J.D. (1986) Geographical variation in *Fundulus heteroclitus*: Tests for concordance between egg and adult morphologies. *American Zoologist* **26**, 145-157.
- Adams, C.E., Huntingford, F.A. (1997) Growth, maturation and reproductive investment in Arctic charr. *Journal of Fish Biology* **51,** 750-759.
- Adams, S.M., McLean, R.B., Parrotta, J.A. (1982) Energy partitioning in largemouth bass under conditions of seasonally fluctuating prey availability. *Transactions of the American*

- Fisheries Society 111, 549-558.
- Aeby, G.S. (2002) Trade-offs for the butterflyfish, *Chaetodon multicinctus*, when feeding on coral prey infected with trematode Metacercariae. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **52,** 158-165.
- Ajiad, A., Jakobsen, T., Nakken, O. (1999) Sexual differences in maturation of Northeast Arctic cod. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **25**, 1-15.
- Alekseev, F.E., Alekseeva, E.I. (2005) Batch fecundity and daily egg production of the Baltic sprat *Sprattus sprattus balticus* (Clupeidae) from the southeastern part of the Baltic Sea. *Journal of Ichthyology* **45**, 98-108.
- Alheit, J. (1988) Reproductive biology of sprat *Sprattus sprattus*. Factors determining annual egg production. *Journal du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer* **44**, 162-168.
- Alheit, J. (1989) Comparative spawning biology of anchovies, sardines and sprats. In: *The Early Life History of Fish*. (Eds. J.H.S. Blaxter, J.C. Gamble, H. von Westernhagen), Rapports Proces-verbaux des Reunions. Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer, 191, pp. 7-14.
- Ali, M., Wootton, R.J. (1999a) Coping with resource variation: Effect of constant and variable intervals between feeding on reproductive performance at first spawning of female three-spined sticklebacks. *Journal of Fish Biology* **55**, 211-220.
- Ali, M., Wootton, R.J. (1999b) Effect of variable food levels on reproductive performance of breeding female three-spined sticklebacks. *Journal of Fish Biology* **55**, 1040-1053.
- Allen, G.R. (1991) Damselfishes of the World, Mergus Publishers, Melle, West Germany.
- Alonso-Fernández, A. (2011) Bioenergetics approach to fish reproductive potential: case of *Trisopterus luscus* (Teleostei) on the Galician Shelf (NW Iberian Peninsula). *Doctoral Thesis. University of Vigo, http://hdl.handle.net/10261/34319*.
- Alonso-Fernández, A., Domínguez-Petit, R., Bao, M., Rivas, C., Saborido-Rey, F. (2008) Spawning pattern and reproductive strategy of female pouting *Trisopterus luscus* (Gadidae), on the Galician shelf of north-western Spain. *Aquatic Living Resources* **21**, 383-393.
- Alonso-Fernández, A., Saborido-Rey, F. (2011) Maternal influence on the variation of the reproductive cycle of *Trisopterus luscus* (Gadidae). *Ciencias Marinas* **37**, 603-618.
- Alonso-Fernández, A., Saborido-Rey, F. (2012) Relationship between energy allocation and reproductive strategy in *Trisopterus luscus*. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **416-417**, 8-16.

- Alonso-Fernández, A., Vergara, A.R., Saborido-Rey, F. (2011) Embryonic development and spawning pattern of *Trisopterus luscus* (Teleostei: Gadidae) under controlled conditions. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **91**, 1281-1287.
- Alonso-Fernández, A., Vallejo, A.C., Saborido-Rey, F., Murua, H., Trippel, E.A. (2009) Fecundity estimation of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) and haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*) of Georges Bank: Application of the autodiametric method. *Fisheries Research* **99**, 47-54.
- Amin, E.M. (1991) Estimation of energy budget for gonadal development, migration and spawning of eels (*Anguilla anguilla* L) inhabiting the Egyptian lagoons. *Arab Gulf Journal of Scientific Research* **9,** 129-147.
- Applegate, V.C. (1950) Natural history of the sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*, in Michigan. *U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Special Scientific Report, Fisheries* **55**, 1-237 pp.
- Armstrong, M.J., Connolly, P., Nash, R.D.M., et al. (2001) An application of the annual egg production method to estimate the spawning biomass of cod (*Gadus morhua* L.), plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa* L.) and sole (*Solea solea* L.) in the Irish Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil* **58**, 183-203.
- Baccante, D.A., Reid, D.M. (1988) Fecundity changes in two exploited walleye populations. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **8,** 199-209.
- Bagenal, T.B. (1966) The ecological and geographical aspects of the fecundity of the plaice. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK 46, 161-186.
- Bagenal, T.B. (1969) The relationship between food supply and fecundity in brown trout, *Salmo trutta*. *Journal of Fish Biology* **1**, 167-182.
- Bailey, R.S. (1980) Problems in management of short-lived pelagic fish as exemplified by North Sea sprat. *Rapports et Procès-Verbaux des Réunions du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer* **177**, 477-488.
- Baker, S.C., Heidinger, R.C. (1994) Individual and relative fecundity of black crappie (*Pomoxis nigromaculatus*) in Baldwin Cooling pond. *Transactions of the Illinois Academy of Science* **87**, 145-150.
- Barbin, G.P., McCleave, J.D. (1997) Fecundity of the American eel *Anguilla rostrata* at 45° N in Maine, U.S.A. *Journal of Fish Biology* **51,** 840-847.
- Barlow, G., de Vlaming, V. (1972) Ovarian cycling in longjaw gobies, *Gillichthys mirabilis*, from the Salton Sea. *California Fish and Game* **58**, 50-57.
- Barlow, G.W. (1963) Species structure of the gobiid fish *Gillichthys mirabilis* from coastal sloughs of the eastern Pacific. *Pacific Science* **17**, 47-72.

- Barr, W.A. (1963) The endocrine control of the sexual cycle in the plaice, *Pleuronectes platessa* (L). I. Cyclical changes in the normal ovary. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **3**, 197-204.
- Basilone, G., Bonanno, A., Patti, B., Mazzola, S., Barra, M., Cuttitta, A., McBride, R. (in press) Spawning (in press) Spawning site selection by European anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*) in relation to oceanographic conditions in the Strait of Sicily. *Fisheries Oceanography*, doi:10.1111/fog.12024.
- Basilone, G., Guisande, C., Patti, B., *et al.* (2006) Effect of habitat conditions on reproduction of the European anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*) in the Strait of Sicily. *Fisheries Oceanography* **15**, 271-280.
- Bassista, T.P., Hartman, K.J. (2005) Reproductive biology and egg mortality of bay anchovy, *Anchoa mitchilli*, in the Hudson River estuary. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **73**, 49-59.
- Bastl, I. (1995) Reproductive biology of the roach (*Rutilus rutilus* Linnaeus, 1758) in the Middle Danube inland delta. *Acta Universitatis Carolinae-Biologica* **39**, 135-146.
- Beamish, F.W.H. (1979) Migration and spawning energetics of the anadromous sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus. Environmental Biology of Fishes* **4,** 3-7.
- Beamish, F.W.H. (1980) Biology of the North American anadromous sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **37**, 1924-1943.
- Beamish, F.W.H., Potter, I.C., Thomas, E. (1979) Proximate composition of the adult anadromous sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*, in relation to feeding, migration and reproduction. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **48**, 1-19.
- Beitinger, T.L., Fitzpatrick, L.C. (1979) Physiological and ecological correlates of preferred temperature in fish. *American Zoologist* **19**, 319-329.
- Bell, J.G., Farndale, B.M., Bruce, M.P., Navas, J.M., Carillo, M. (1997) Effects of broodstock dietary lipid on fatty acid compositions of eggs from sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Aquaculture* **149**, 107-119.
- Bergstad, O.A., Høines, Å.S., Krüger-Johnsen, E.M. (2001) Spawning time, age and size at maturity, and fecundity of sandeel, *Ammodytes marinus*, in the north-eastern North Sea and in unfished coastal waters off Norway. *Aquatic Living Resources* **14**, 293-301.
- Billard, R. (1987) The reproductive cycle of male and female brown trout (*Salmo trutta fario*): a quantitative study. *Reprod. Nutr. Dévelop.* **27,** 29-44.
- Blanchard, J.L., Frank, K.T., Simon, J.E. (2003) Effects of condition on fecundity and total egg

- production of eastern Scotian Shelf haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science **60**, 321-332.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Hunter, J.R. (1982) The biology of clupeoid fishes. *Advances in Marine Biology* **20**, 1-223.
- Boëtius, I., Boëtius, J. (1980) Experimental maturation of female silver eels, *Anguilla anguilla*. Estimates of fecundity and energy reserves for migration and spawning. *Dana*. *Charlottenlund*. **1,** 1-28.
- Boëtius, I., Boëtius, J. (1985) Lipid and protein content in *Anguilla anguilla* during growth and starvation. *Dana. Charlottenlund.* **4,** 1-17.
- Boreman, J., Correia, S.J., Witherell, D.B. (1993) Effects of changes in age-0 survival and fishing mortality on egg production of winter flounder in Cape Cod Bay. *American Fisheries Society Symposium* **14**, 39-45.
- Boulcott, P., Wright, P.J. (2008) Critical timing for reproductive allocation in a capital breeder: evidence from sandeels. *Aquatic Biology* **3**, 31-40.
- Boulcott, P., Wright, P.J., Gibb, F.M., Jensen, H., Gibb, I.M. (2007) Regional variation in maturation of sandeels in the North Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **64**, 369-376.
- Bowers, A.B., Holliday, F.G.T. (1961) Histological changes in the gonad associated with the reproductive cycle of the herring (*Clupea harengus* L.). *Dept. Agric. Fish. Scotland. Mar. Res.* **5,** 1-16.
- Bromley, P.J. (2003) The use of market sampling to generate maturity ogives and to investigate growth, sexual dimorphism and reproductive strategy in central and south-western North Sea sole (*Solea solea L.*). *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil* **60**, 52-65.
- Bromley, P.J., Ravier, C., Witthames, P.R. (2000) The influence of feeding regime on sexual maturation, fecundity and atresia in first-time spawning turbot. *Journal of Fish Biology* **56,** 264-278.
- Bromley, P.J., Sykes, P.A., Howell, B.R. (1986) Egg production of turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus* L) spawning in tank conditions. *Aquaculture* **53**, 287-293.
- Brooks, S., Tyler, C.R., Sumpter, J.P. (1997) Egg quality in fish: what makes a good egg? *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **7**, 387-416.
- Brown, M.L., Murphy, B.R. (2004) Seasonal dynamics of direct and indirect condition indices in relation to energy allocation in largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides* (Lacepede). *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **13**, 23-36.
- Brown, S.J., Maceina, M.J. (2002) The influence of disparate levels of submersed aquatic

- vegetation on largemouth bass population characteristics in a Georgia reservoir. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* **40,** 28-35.
- Bruce, M.P., Oyen, F., Bell, J.G., *et al.* (1999) Development of broodstock diets for the European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) with special emphasis on the importance of n-3 and n-6 highly unsaturated fatty acid to reproductive performance. *Aquaculture* **177**, 85-97.
- Bunnell, D.B. (2002) Exploring mechanisms underlying recruitment of white crappie in Ohio reservoirs. *Ph. D. Dissertation. The Ohio State University*.
- Bunnell, D.B., Gonzalez, M.J., Stein, R.A. (2003) Zooplankton biomass enhances growth, but not survival, of first-feeding *Pomoxis* spp. larvae. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **60**, 1314-1323.
- Bunnell, D.B., Hale, R.S., Vanni, M.J., Stein, R.A. (2006) Predicting crappie recruitment in Ohio reservoirs with spawning stock size, larval density, and chlorophyll concentrations. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **26**, 1-12.
- Bunnell, D.B., Marschall, E.A. (2003) Optimal energy allocation to ovaries after spawning. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* **5,** 439-457.
- Bunnell, D.B., Scantland, M.A., Stein, R.A. (2005) Testing for evidence of maternal effects among individuals and populations of white crappie. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **134**, 607-619.
- Bunnell, D.B., Thomas, S.E., Stein, R.A. (2007) Prey resources before spawning influence gonadal investment of female, but not male, white crappie. *Journal of Fish Biology* **70**, 1838-1854.
- Burton, M. (1998) Gametogenesis in north west Atlantic teleosts. *Italian Journal of Zoology* **65**, 199-202.
- Burton, M.P., Idler, D.R. (1984) The reproductive cycle in winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus* (Walbaum). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **62**, 2563-2567.
- Burton, M.P., Idler, D.R. (1987) An experimental investigation of the non-reproductive, post-mature state in winter flounder. *Journal of Fish Biology* **30**, 643-650.
- Burton, M.P.M. (1991) Induction and reversal of the non-reproductive state in winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus* Walbaum, by manipulating food availability. *Journal of Fish Biology* **39**, 909-910.
- Burton, M.P.M. (1994) A critical period for nutritional control of early gametogenesis in female winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus* (Pisces: Teleostei). *Journal of Zoology* **233,** 405-415.

- Burton, M.P.M. (1999) Notes on potential errors in estimating spawning stock biomass: determining the effects of non-participatory adults for some groundfish species. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **25**, 205-213.
- Burton, M.P.M., Penney, R.M., Biddiscombe, S. (1997) Time course of gametogenesis in northwest Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **54**, 122-131.
- Cantin, M.C. (1987) Oocyte development and induced spawning of smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieui*) in response to photoperiod and temperature manipulation: Preliminary results. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society* **18**, 26-30.
- Cardinale, M., Modin, J. (1999) Changes in size-at-maturity of Baltic cod (*Gadus morhua*) during a period of large variations in stock size and environmental conditions. *Fisheries Research* **41**, 285-295.
- Carlander, K.D. (1945) Age, growth, sexual maturity, and population fluctuations of the yellow pike-perch, *Stizostedion vitreum vitreum* (Mitchill), with reference to the commercial fisheries, Lake of the Woods, Minnesota. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **73**, 90-107.
- Carlander, K.D. (1977) *Handbook of Freshwater Fishery Biology*, Iowa State University Press, Ames.
- Carlson, A.R. (1973) Induced spawning of largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides* (Lacepede)). *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **102,** 442-444.
- Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., Prat, F., *et al.* (1995) Nutritional and photoperiodic effects on hormonal cycles and quality of spawning in sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.). *Netherlands Journal of Zoology* **45**, 204-209.
- Cerdá, J., Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., Ramos, J. (1994a) Effect of food ration on estrogen and vitellogenin plasma levels, fecundity and larval survival in captive sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*: preliminary observations. *Aquatic Living Resources* **7**, 255-266.
- Cerdá, J., Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., Ramos, J., de la Higuera, M. (1994b) Influence of nutritional composition of diet on sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax* L., reproductive performance and egg and larval quality. *Aquaculture* **128**, 345-361.
- Chambers, R.C., Waiwood, K.G. (1996) Maternal and seasonal differences in egg sizes and spawning characteristics of captive Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **53**, 1986-2003.
- Chew, R.L. (1972) The failure of largemouth bass, *Micropterus salmoides floridanus* (LeSuer), to spawn in eutrophic, over-crowded environments. *Proceedings of the Southeastern*

- Association of Game and Fish Commissioners 26, 306-317.
- Chew, R.L. (1974) Early life history of the Florida largemouth bass. *Florida Game Fresh Water Fish Commission, Fishery Bulletin* **7**, 1-76.
- Chizinski, C.J., Huber, C.G., Longoria, M., Pope, K.L. (2007) Intraspecific resource partitioning by an opportunistic strategist, inland silverside *Menidia beryllina*. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* **23**, 147-151.
- Chizinski, C.J., Huber, C.G., Pope, K.L. (2008) Development and evaluation of a bioenergetics model for the inland silverside in freshwater systems. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **137**, 254-261.
- Clark, J.R. (1959) Sexual maturity of haddock. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **88,** 212-213.
- Clay, D. (1989) Oogenesis and fecundity of haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L.) from the Nova Scotia shelf. *Journal du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer* **46**, 24-34.
- Clugston, J. (1966) Centrarchid spawning in the Florida everglades. *Quarterly Journal of the Florida Academy of Sciences* **29**, 137-143.
- Conover, D.O. (1990) The relation between capacity for growth and length of growing season: evidence for the implications of countergradient variation. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **119**, 416-430.
- Coorey, D.N., Able, K.W., Shisler, J.K. (1985) Life history and food habits of the inland silversides, *Menidia beryllina*, in a New Jersey salt marsh. *The Bulletin of the New Jersey Academy of Science* **30**, 29-38.
- Copp, G.H., Fox, M.G., Przybylski, M., Godinho, F.N., Vila-Gispert, A. (2004) Life-time growth patterns of pumpkinseed *Lepomis gibbosus* introduced to Europe, relative to native North American populations. *Folia Zoologica* **53**, 237-254.
- Craig, J.F. (1980) Growth and production of the 1955 to 1972 cohorts of perch, *Perca fluviatilis* L., in Windermere. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **49**, 291-315.
- Craig, J.F. (2000) Percid Fishes: Systematics, ecology and exploitation, Blackwell Science.
- Craig, J.F., Babaluk, J.A., Stevenson, S.G., Williams, P.C. (1995) Variation in growth and reproduction of walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum*) in three Manitoba lakes. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **73**, 367-372.
- Craig, M.T., Eble, J.A., Bowen, B.W. (2010) Origins, ages and population histories: comparative phylogeography of endemic Hawaiian butterflyfishes (genus *Chaetodon*). *Journal of*

- *Biogeography* **37**, 2125-2136.
- Crivelli, A.J., Mestre, D. (1988) Life history traits of pumpkinseed, *Lepomis gibbosus*, introduced into the Camargue, a Mediterranean wetland. *Archiv Fur Hydrobiologie* **111**, 449-466.
- Cryer, M., Peirson, G., Townsend, C.R. (1986) Reciprocal interactions between roach, *Rutilus rutilus*, and zooplankton in a small lake: Prey dynamics and fish growth and recruitment. *Limnology and Oceanography* **31**, 1022-1038.
- Curtis, R., Wehrly, K. (2006) *Micropterus salmoides*. Animal Diversity Web., http://animaldiversity.ummz.umich.edu/site/accounts/information/Micropterus_salmoides .htmldefault (Accessed, 8 April 2009).
- Cushing, D.H., Burd, A.C. (1956) Recruitment and maturity of the East Anglian herring. *Nature* **178,** 86-87.
- Dadzie, S., Aloo, P.A. (1990) Reproduction of the North American blackbass, *Micropterus salmoides* (Lacepede), in an equatorial lake, Lake Naivasha, Kenya. *Aquaculture and Fisheries Management* **21**, 449-458.
- Danylchuk, A.J., Fox, M.G. (1994) Age and size-dependent variation in the seasonal timing and probability of reproduction among mature female pumpkinseed, *Lepomis gibbosus*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **39**, 119-127.
- Dawson, A.S., Grimm, A.S. (1980) Quantitative seasonal changes in the protein, lipid and energy content of the carcass, ovaries and liver of adult female plaice, *Pleuronectes platessa* L. *Journal of Fish Biology* **16**, 493-504.
- Deacon, L.I., Keast, J.A. (1987) Patterns of reproduction in two populations of pumpkinseed sunfish, *Lepomis gibbosus*, with differing food resources. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **19**, 281-296.
- Dempson, J.B., Green, J.M. (1985) Life history of anadromous arctic charr, *Salvelinus alpinus*, in the Fraser River, northern Labrador. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **63**, 315-324.
- DeVries, D.R., Garvey, J.E., Wright, R.A. (2009) Early life history and recruitment. In: *Centrarchid Fishes: Diversity, Biology, and Conservation*. (Eds. S.J. Cook, D.P. Philipp), Wiley-Blackwell, West Sussex, UK, pp. 105-133.
- Devauchelle, N., Alexandre, J.C., Le Corre, N., Letty, Y. (1987) Spawning of sole (*Solea solea*) in capivity (sic). *Aquaculture* **66**, 125-147.
- Dhillon, R.S., Fox, M.G. (2004) Growth-independent effects of temperature on age and size at maturity in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). *Copeia* **2004**, 37-45.

- Donelson, J.M., McCormick, M.I., Munday, P.L. (2008) Parental condition affects early life-history of a coral reef fish. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **360**, 109-116.
- Donelson, J.M., Munday, P.L., McCormick, M.I. (2009) Parental effects on offspring life histories: when are they important? *Biology Letters* **5**, 262-265.
- Donelson, J.M., Munday, P.L., McCormick, M.I., Pankhurst, N.W., Pankhurst, P.M. (2010) Effects of elevated water temperature and food availability on the reproductive performance of a coral reef fish. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **401**, 233-243.
- Driscoll, J., Driscoll, J. (1988) Pair behavior and spacing in butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **22**, 29-37.
- Dubuc, R.A., DeVries, D.R. (2002) An exploration of factors influencing crappie early life history in three Alabama impoundments. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **131,** 476-491.
- Dulĉić, J. (1998) Larval growth of sprat, *Sprattus sprattus phalericus*, larvae in the northern Adriatic. *Fishery Research* **36**, 117-126.
- Dunn, R.S. (1970) Further evidence for a three-year oocyte maturation time in the winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*). *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **27**, 957-960.
- Dutil, J.D. (1986) Energetic constraints and spawning interval in the anadromous Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). *Copeia* **1986**, 945-955.
- Eaton, R.C., Farley, R.D. (1974a) Spawning cycle and egg production of zebrafish, *Brachydanio rerio*, in the laboratory. *Copeia* **1974**, 195-204.
- Eaton, R.C., Farley, R.D. (1974b) Growth and the reduction of depensation of zebrafish, *Brachydanio rerio*, reared in the laboratory. *Copeia* **1974**, 204-209.
- Engelhard, G.H., Heino, M. (2006) Climate change and condition of herring (*Clupea harengus*) explain long-term trends in extent of skipped reproduction. *Oecologia (Berlin)* **149**, 593-603.
- Engelhard, G.H., Heino, M. (2005) Scale analysis suggests frequent skipping of the second reproductive season in Atlantic herring. *Biology Letters* **1**, 172-175.
- Eschmeyer, W.N., Fong, J.D. (2008 [On-line version dated 12 January 2012]) Species by Family/subfamily in the Catalog of Fishes (http://research.calacademy.org/research/ichthyology/catalog/SpeciesByFamily.asp).
- Evans, T.G., Somero, G.N. (2008) A microarray-based transcriptomic time-course of hyper- and

- hypo-osmotic stress signaling events in the euryhaline fish *Gillichthys mirabilis*: osmosensors to effectors. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **211**, 3636-3649.
- Felip, A., Piferrer, F., Zanuy, S., Carrillo, M. (2001) Comparative growth performance of diploid and triploid European sea bass over the first four spawning seasons. *Journal of Fish Biology* **58**, 76-88.
- Fleming, I.A. (1996) Reproductive strategies of Atlantic salmon: ecology and evolution. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **6**, 379-416.
- Fletcher, D.A., Wootton, R.J. (1995) A hierarchical response to differences in ration size in the reproductive performance of female three-spined sticklebacks. *Journal of Fish Biology* **46,** 657-668.
- Forbes, E.L., Preston, C.D., Lokman, P.M. (2010) Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) and the egg size versus egg number trade off: effects of ration size on fecundity are not mediated by orthologues of the Fec gene. *Reproduction, Fertility and Development* **22**, 1015-1021.
- Fox, C.J., O'Brien, C.M., Dickey-Collas, M., Nash, R.D.M. (2000) Patterns in the spawning of cod (*Gadus morhua* L.), sole (*Solea solea* L.) and plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa* L.) in the Irish Sea as determined by generalized additive modelling. *Fisheries Oceanography* **9**, 33-49.
- Fox, M.G., Crivelli, A.J. (1998) Body size and reproductive allocation in a multiple spawning centrarchid. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **55**, 737-748.
- Fox, M.G., Crivelli, A.J. (2001) Life history traits of pumpkinseed (*Lepomis gibbosus*) populations introduced into warm thermal environments. *Archiv Fur Hydrobiologie* **150**, 561-580.
- Fox, M.G., Keast, A. (1991) Effect of overwinter mortality on reproductive life history characteristics of pumpkinseed (*Lepomis gibbosus*) populations. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences* **48**, 1792-1799.
- Frantzen, M., Johnsen, H.K., Mayer, I. (1997) Gonadal development and sex steroids in a female Arctic charr broodstock. *Journal of Fish Biology* **51**, 697-709.
- Friedland, K.D., Hare, J.A., Wood, G.B., *et al.* (2008) Does the fall phytoplankton bloom control recruitment of Georges Bank haddock, Melanogrammus aeglefinus, through parental condition? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **65**, 1076-1086.
- Friedland, K.D., Hare, J.A., Wood, G.B., *et al.* (2009) Reply to the comment by Payne et al. on "Does the fall phytoplankton bloom control recruitment of Georges Bank haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus*, through parental condition?" *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **66**, 873-877.

- Fritz, E.S., Garside, E.T. (1975) Comparison of age composition, growth, and fecundity between two populations each of *Fundulus heteroclitus* and *F. diaphanus* (Pisces: Cyprinodontidae). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **53**, 361-369.
- Funamoto, T., Aoki, I. (2002) Reproductive ecology of Japanese anchovy off the Pacific coast of eastern Honshu, Japan. *Journal of Fish Biology* **60**, 154-169.
- Funamoto, T., Aoki, I., Wada, Y. (2004) Reproductive characteristics of Japanese anchovy, *Engraulis japonicus*, in two bays of Japan. *Fisheries Research* **70**, 71-81.
- Gabelhouse, D.W. (1991) Seasonal changes in body condition of white crappies and relations to length and growth in Melvern Reservoir, Kansas. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **11**, 50-56.
- Ganias, K. (2009) Linking sardine spawning dynamics to environmental variability. *Estuarine*, *Coastal and Shelf Science* **84**, 402-408.
- Ganias, K., Somarakis, S., Koutsikopoulos, C., Machias, A. (2007) Factors affecting the spawning period of sardine in two highly oligotrophic Seas. *Marine Biology* **151**, 1559-1569.
- Ganias, K., Somarakis, S., Machias, A., Theodorou, A. (2004) Pattern of oocyte development and batch fecundity in the Mediterranean sardine. *Fisheries Research* **67**, 13-23.
- Ganias, K., Somarakis, S., Machias, A., Theodorou, A.J. (2003) Evaluation of spawning frequency in a Mediterranean sardine population (*Sardina pilchardus sardina*). *Marine Biology* **142**, 1169-1179.
- Garvey, J.E., Marschall, E.A. (2003) Understanding latitudinal trends in fish body size through models of optimal seasonal energy allocation. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **60**, 938-948.
- Gauld, J.A., Hutcheon, J.R. (1990) Spawning and fecundity in the lesser sandeel, *Ammodytes marinus* Raitt, in the north-western North Sea. *Journal of Fish Biology* **36**, 611-613.
- Geffen, A.J. (2009) Advances in herring biology: from simple to complex, coping with plasticity and adaptability. *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil* **66**, 1688-1695.
- George, M.R. (1987) Ovarian maturation cycle of sprat *Sprattus sprattus*. *ICES Council Meeting* H:47.
- Gibson, R.J., Williams, D.D., McGowam, C., Davidson, W.S. (1996) The ecology of dwarf fluvial Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., cohabiting brook trout, *Salvelius fontinalis* (Mitchill), in southweastern Newfoundland, Canada. *Polskie Archiwum Hydrobiologii/Polish Archives of Hydrobiology* **43**, 145-166.

- van Ginneken, V., Vianen, G., Muusze, B., *et al.* (2005) Gonad development and spawning behaviour of artificially-matured European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.). *Animal Biology* **55**, 203-218.
- van Ginneken, V.J.T., Maes, G.E. (2005) The European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*, Linnaeus), its lifecycle, evolution and reproduction: a literature review. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **15**, 367-398.
- van Ginneken, V.J.T., van den Thillart, G.E.E.J.M. (2000) Physiology: Eel fat stores are enough to reach the Sargasso. *Nature* **403**, 156-157.
- Giragosov, V.E. (2002) Reproductive parameters of the Black Sea sprat *Sprattus sprattus* phalericus (Clupeidae) in coastal waters of Crimea. *Ecology of Sea, Institute of Biology of Southern Seas of Ukraine Academy, Sevastopol* **59,** 51-55.
- Golovanenko, L.F., Shuvatova, T.F., Putina, Y.P., Fedorova, L.S., Arakelova, A.L. (1970) A physiological and biochemical description of don pike-perch females at different stages of the sexual cycle. *Journal of Ichthyology* **10**, 260-267.
- Goodgame, L.S., Miranda, L.E. (1993) Early growth and survival of age-0 largemouth bass in relation to parental size and swim-up time. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **122**, 131-138.
- Goubier, V., Martin, M., Kokkidis, M.J., Exbrayat, J.M. (1997) Observations on ovary maturation of reared black-bass (*Micropterus salmoides* L.). An histological description of the annual reproductive cycle. *Polskie Archiwum Hydrobiologii/Polish Archives of Hydrobiology* **44**, 159-169.
- Gracey, A.Y., Troll, J.V., Somero, G.N. (2001) Hypoxia-induced gene expression profiling in the euryoxic fish *Gillichthys mirabilis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98**, 1993-1998.
- Gran, J.E. (1995) Gonad development and spawning of largemouth bass in a tropical reservoir. Master's thesis, North Carolina State University, Raleigh.
- Grauman, G.B. (1969) Some data on the reproduction of Kilka in the southern part of the Baltic Sea (1958-1966). In: *Stock and Biology of Commercial Fish of the Southern Part of the Baltic Sea*. (Ed. N.P. Biryukov), *AtlantNIRO Proceedings, Kaliningrad*, pp. 140-150.
- Grauman, G.B., Yula, E. (1989) The importance of abiotic and biotic factors in the early ontogenesis of cod and sprat. *Rapports et Procès-Verbaux des Réunions du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer* **190**, 207-210.
- Griffiths, D. (1994) The size structure of lacustrine Arctic charr (Pisces: Salmonidae) populations. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **51**, 337-357.

- Gross, T.S., Wieser, C.M., Sepulveda, M.S., Wiebe, J.J., Schoeb, T.R., Denslow, N.D. (2002) Characterization of annual reproductive cycles for pond-reared Florida largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides floridanus*. *American Fisheries Society Symposium* **31**, 205-212.
- Gutiérrez-Estrada, J.C., Pulido-Calvo, I., Fernández-Delgado, C. (2000) Age-structure, growth and reproduction of the introduced pumpkinseed (*Lepomis gibbosa*, L. 1758) in a tributary of the Guadalquivir River (Southern Spain). *Limnetica* **19**, 21-29.
- Hansen, D.F. (1951) Biology of the white crappie in Illinois. *Illinois Natural History Survey Bulletin* **25**, 211-265.
- Hardisty, M.W. (1963) Fecundity and speciation in lampreys. *Evolution* 17, 17-22.
- Hardisty, M.W. (1964) The fecundity of lampreys. Archiv Fur Hydrobiologie 60, 340-357.
- Hardisty, M.W. (1965) Sex differentiation and gonadogenesis in lampreys. Part II. The ammocoete gonads of the landlocked sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*. *Journal of Zoology* **146**, 346-387.
- Haslob, H., Kraus, G., Saborido-Rey, F. (2012) The dynamics of postovulatory follicle degeneration and oocyte growth in Baltic sprat. *Journal of Sea Research*, **67**, 27-33.
- Haslob, H., Rábade-Uberos, S., Saborido-Rey F. (2013) Seasonal variability of fecundity and spawning dynamics of Baltic sprat. *Fisheries Research*, **138**, 99-109.
- Haslob, H., Tomkievicz, J., Hinrichsen, H.-H. (2005) Spatial and temporal variability in Baltic sprat (*Sprattus sprattus balticus* S.) batch fecundity. *ICES CM* 2005/**Q:08**, 1-13.
- Haslob, H., Tomkiewicz, J., Hinrichsen, H.H., Kraus, G. (2011) Spatial and interannual variability in Baltic sprat batch fecundity. *Fisheries Research* **110**, 289-297.
- Hay, D.E., Brett, J.R. (1988) Maturation and fecundity of Pacific herring (*Clupea harengus pallasi*): An experimental study with comparisons to natural populations. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **45**, 399-406.
- Hayes, D.B., Taylor, W.W. (1990) Reproductive strategy in yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*): effects of diet ontogeny, mortality, and survival costs. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **47**, 921-927.
- Heibo, E., Magnhagen, C., Vøllestad, L.A. (2005) Latitudinal variation in life-history traits in Eurasian perch. *Ecology* **86,** 3377-3386.
- Heidinger, R.C., Crawford, S.D. (1977) Effect of temperature and feeding rate on the liver-somatic index of the largemouth bass, *Micropterus salmoides*. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **34**, 633-638.

- Heinrich, J.W., Weise, J.G., Smith, B.R. (1980) Changes in biological characteristics of the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) as related to lamprey abundance, prey abundance, and sea lamprey control *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **37**, 1861-1871.
- Hemmer, M.J., Middaugh, D.P., Comparetta, V. (1992) Comparative acute sensitivity of larval topsmelt, *Atherinops affinis*, and inland silverside, *Menidia beryllina*, to 11 chemicals. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **11**, 401-408.
- Hempel, G. (1971) Egg production and egg mortality in herring. *Rapports et Procès-Verbaux des Réunions du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer* **160**, 8-11.
- Henderson, B.A., Nepszy, S.J. (1994) Reproductive tactics of walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum*) in Lake Erie. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **51**, 986-997.
- Henderson, B.A., Trivedi, T., Collins, N. (2000) Annual cycle of energy allocation to growth and reproduction of yellow perch. *Journal of Fish Biology* **57**, 122-133.
- Henderson, B.A., Wong, J.L., Nepszy, S.J. (1996) Reproduction of walleye in Lake Erie: allocation of energy. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **53**, 127-133.
- Hickling, C.F. (1940) The fecundity of the herring of the southern North sea. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **24,** 619-632.
- Hickling, C.F., Rutenberg, E. (1936) The ovary as an indicator of the spawning period in fishes. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **21**, 311-317.
- Hilder, M.L., Pankhurst, N.W. (2003) Evidence that temperature change cues reproductive development in the spiny damselfish, *Acanthochromis polyacanthus*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **66**, 187-196.
- Hirshfield, M.F. (1980) An experimental analysis of reproductive effort and cost in the Japanese medaka *Oryzias latipes*. *Ecology* **61**, 282-292.
- Hislop, J.R.G., Robb, A.P., Gauld, J.A. (1978) Observations on effects of feeding level on growth and reproduction in haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* (L.) in captivity. *Journal of Fish Biology* **13**, 85-98.
- Hokanson, K.E.F. (1977) Temperature requirements of some percids and adaptations to the seasonal temperature cycle. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **34**, 1524-1550.
- Holmgren, K. (2003) Omitted spawning in compensatory-growing perch. *Journal of Fish Biology* **62**, 918-927.
- Horwood, J.W. (1990) Fecundity and maturity of plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa*) from Cardigan Bay. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **70**, 515-529.

- Horwood, J.W., Greer Walker, M., Witthames, P. (1989) The effect of feeding levels on the fecundity of plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa*). *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **69**, 81-92.
- Horwood, J.W., Greer Walker, M. (1990) Determinacy of fecundity in sole (*Solea solea*) from the Bristol Channel. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **70**, 803-813.
- Houde, E.D., Lovdal, J.A. (1984) Seasonality of occurrence, foods and food preferences of ichthyoplankton in Biscayne Bay, Florida. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Sciences* **18**, 403-419.
- Howard, R.D., Martens, R.S., Innis, S.A., Drnevich, J.M., Hale, J. (1998) Mate choice and mate competition influence male body size in Japanese medaka. *Animal Behaviour* **55**, 1151-1163.
- Hsiao, S.M., Limesand, S.W., Wallace, R.A. (1996) Semilunar follicular cycle of an intertidal fish: the *Fundulus* model. *Biology of Reproduction* **54,** 809-818.
- Hsiao, S.-M., Greeley, M.S., Jr., Wallace, R.A. (1994) Reproductive cycling in female *Fundulus heteroclitus*. *Biological Bulletin (Woods Hole)* **186**, 271-284.
- Hubbs, C. (1982) Life history dynamics of *Menidia beryllina* from Lake Texoma. *American Midland Naturalist* **107**, 1-12.
- Hubbs, C.L., Pope, T.E.B. (1937) The spread of the sea lamprey through the Great Lakes. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **66**, 172-176.
- Huber, M. (1995) The relationship between food abundance and spawning by Menidia beryllina in Rhode Island, USA, estuaries. Ph.D. Dissertation, Biological Science, University of Rhode Island. 167 pp.
- Huber, M., Bengtson, D.A. (1999a) Effects of photoperiod and temperature on the regulation of the onset of maturation in the estuarine fish *Menidia beryllina* (Cope) (Atherinidae). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **240**, 285-302.
- Huber, M., Bengtson, D.A. (1999b) Interspecific differences in growth of somatic and reproductive tissues during the breeding season in *Menidia menidia* and *M. beryllina*. *Journal of Fish Biology* **55**, 274-287.
- Hunter, J.R., Leong, R. (1981) The spawning energetics of female northern anchovy, *Engraulis mordax*. *Fishery Bulletin* **79**, 215-230.
- Hunter, J.R., Lo, N.C.H., Leong, R.J.H. (1985) Batch fecundity in multiple spawning fishes. In: NOAA Technical Report NMFS 36. An Egg Production Method for Estimating Spawning

- Biomass of Pelagic Fish: Application to the Northern Anchovy, Engraulis mordax. (Ed. R. Lasker), U.S. Dept. Commerce, pp. 67-78.
- Hunter, J.R., Macewicz, B.J. (1985a) Measurement of spawning frequency in multiple spawning fishes. In: *NOAA Technical Report NMFS 36. An Egg Production Method for Estimating Spawning Biomass of Pelagic Fish: Application to the Northern Anchovy, Engraulis mordax.* (Ed. R. Lasker), U.S. Dept. Commerce, pp. 79-94.
- Hunter, J.R., Macewicz, B.J. (1985b) Rates of atresia in the ovary of captive and wild northern anchovy, *Engraulis mordax*. *Fishery Bulletin* **83**, 119-136.
- Hunter, J.R., Macewicz, B.M. (1980) Sexual maturity, batch fecundity, spawning frequency, and temporal pattern of spawning for the northern anchovy, *Engaulis mordax*, during the 1979 spawning season. *California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Reports* **21**, 139-149.
- Hunter, K., Fox, M., Able, K. (2009) Influence of flood frequency, temperature and population density on migration of *Fundulus heteroclitus* in semi-isolated marsh pond habitats. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **391**, 85-96.
- ICES (International Council for the Exploration of the Sea) (1990) Report of the study group on cod stock fluctuations. Cod and climate change (CCC), framework for the study of global Ocean ecosystem dynamics. *ICES Council Meeting* **G:50**, 1-29.
- ICES (International Council for the Exploration of the Sea) (1991) Report of the study group on cod stock fluctuations. Towards an implementation plan for the program on Cod and Climate Change (CCC). *ICES Council Meeting* **G:78,** 1-13.
- Imai, C., Kajitori, K. (2000) Variability in batch fecundity of Japanese anchovy in Yamaguchi waters, the Sea of Japan. *Journal of National Fisheries University (Japan)* **48,** 281-291.
- Imai, C., Tanaka, S. (1994) Analysis of ovarian egg size frequency distribution of Japanese anchovy using computer graphics. *Fisheries Science* **60**, 695-701.
- Imai, C., Tanaka, S. (1997) Effect of sea water temperature on variability of batch fecundity in Japanese anchovy from coastal waters around Miura Peninsula, Central Japan. *Fisheries Science* **63**, 489-495.
- Imsland, A.K., Foss, A., Conceição, L.E.C., *et al.* (2003) A review of the culture potential of *Solea solea* and *S. senegalensis. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **13**, 379-408.
- Isely, J.J., Noble, R.L., Koppelman, J.B., Philipp, D.P. (1987) Spawning period and first-year growth of northern, Florida, and intergrade stocks of largemouth bass. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **116**, 757-762.
- Jackson, U.T. (1979) Controlled spawning of largemouth bass. Progressive Fish-Culturist 41,

- James, M.F. (1946) Histology of gonadal changes in the bluegill, *Lepomis macrochirus* Rafinesque, and the largemouth bass, *Huro salmoides* (Lacépède). *Journal of Morphology* **79**, 63-91.
- Jansen, W.A. (1996) Plasticity in maturity and fecundity of yellow perch, *Perca flavescens* (Mitchill): comparisons of stunted and normal-growing populations. *Ann. Zool. Fennici* **33**, 403-415.
- Jones, A. (1974) Sexual maturity, fecundity and growth of the turbot *Scophthalmus maximus* L. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK* **54,** 109-125.
- Jonsson, B., Jonsson, N. (1993) Partial migration: niche shift versus sexual maturation in fishes. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **3,** 348-365.
- Jonsson, B., Jonsson, N. (2006) Life History of the Anadromous Trout Salmo trutta. In: Sea Trout: Biology, Conservation, and Management: Proceedings of First International Sea Trout Symposium, Cardiff July 2004 (Eds. G. Harris, N. Milner), Blackwell Publishing, pp. 196-223.
- Jonsson, N., Hansen, L.P., Jonsson, B. (1991a) Variation in age, size and repeat spawning of adult Atlantic salmon in relation to river discharge. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **60**, 937-947.
- Jonsson, N., Jonsson, B. (1997) Energy allocation in polymorphic brown trout. *Functional Ecology* **11**, 310-317.
- Jonsson, N., Jonsson, B., Fleming, I.A. (1996) Does early growth cause a phenotypically plastic response in egg production of Atlantic salmon? *Functional Ecology* **10**, 89-96.
- Jonsson, N., Jonsson, B., Hansen, L.P. (1991b) Energetic cost of spawning in male and female Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *Journal of Fish Biology* **39**, 739-744.
- Jonsson, B., L'Abée-Lund, J.H., Heggberget, T.G., Jensen, A.J., Johnsen, B.O., Næsje, T.F., Sættem, L.M. (1991c) Longevity, body size and growth in anadromous brown trout (Salmo trutta). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 48, 1838-1845.
- Jonsson, N., Naesje, T.F., Jonsson, B., Saksgard, R., Sandlund, O.T. (1999) The influence of piscivory on life history traits of brown trout. *Journal of Fish Biology* **55**, 1129-1141.
- Justus, J.A., Fox, M.G. (1994) The cost of early maturation on growth, body condition and somatic lipid content in a lake pumpkinseed (*Lepomis gibbosus*) population. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **3,** 9-17.
- Kadri, S., Mitchell, D.F., Metcalfe, N.B., Huntingford, F.A., Thorpe, J.E. (1996) Differential

- patterns of feeding and resource accumulation in maturing and immature Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. *Aquaculture* **142**, 245-257.
- Kassler, T.W., Koppelman, J.B., Near, T.J., *et al.* (2002) Molecular and morphological analyses of the black basses: Implications for taxonomy and conservation. *American Fisheries Society Symposium* **31**, 291-322.
- Kavanagh, K.D. (2000) Larval brooding in the marine damselfish *Acanthochromis polyacanthus* (Pomacentridae) is correlated with highly divergent morphology, ontogeny and lifehistory traits. *Bulletin of Marine Science* **66**, 321-337.
- Kawaguchi, K., Yamashita, Y., Hayashi, A. (1990) Some aspects of spawning of the reared Japanese anchovy (*Engraulis japonicus* H.) in relation to the photoperiod, water temperature and starvation. *Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Fisheries Oceanography* **64**, 364-372.
- Kelley, J.W. (1962) Sexual maturity and fecundity of the largemouth bass, *Micropterus* salmoides (Lacepede), in Maine. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **91**, 23-28.
- Kennedy, J., Skjæraasen, J.E., Nash, R.D.M., *et al.* (2010) Do capital breeders like Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) exhibit sensitive periods of nutritional control on ovary development and fecundity regulation? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **67**, 16-27.
- Kennedy, J., Witthames, P.R., Nash, R.D.M., Fox, C.J. (2008) Is fecundity in plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa* L.) down-regulated in response to reduced food intake during autumn? *Journal of Fish Biology* **72**, 78-92.
- Kettle, A.J., Vollestad, L.A., Wibig, J. (2011) Where once the eel and the elephant were together: decline of the European eel because of changing hydrology in southwest Europe and northwest Africa? *Fish and Fisheries* **12**, 380-411.
- Kingsford, M.J., Hughes, J.M. (2005) Patterns of growth, mortality, and size of the tropical damselfish *Acanthochromis polyacanthus* across the continental shelf of the Great Barrier Reef. *Fishery Bulletin* **103**, 561-573.
- Kitchell, J.F., Breck, J.E. (1980) Bioenergetics model and foraging hypothesis for sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences **37**, 2159-2168.
- Kjesbu, O.S. (1988) Fecundity and maturity of cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) from northern Norway. *ICES Council Meeting* **CM 1988/G:28,** 1-11.
- Kjesbu, O.S. (1989) The spawning activity of cod, *Gadus morhua* L. *Journal of Fish Biology* **34**, 195-206.

- Kjesbu, O.S. (2009) Applied fish reproductive biology: contribution of individual reproductive potential to recruitment and fisheries management. In: *Fish Reproductive Biology: Implications for Assessment and Management*. (Eds. T. Jakobsen, M.J. Fogarty, B.A. Megrey, E. Moksness), John Wiley and Sons, Ltd., West Sussex, U.K., pp. 293-334.
- Kjesbu, O.S., Witthames, P.R. (2007) Evolutionary pressure on reproductive strategies in flatfish and groundfish: Relevant concepts and methodological advancements. *Journal of Sea Research* **58**, 23-34.
- Kjesbu, O.S., Witthames, P.R., Solemdal, P., Greer Walker, M. (1998) Temporal variations in the fecundity of Arcto-Norwegian cod (*Gadus morhua*) in response to natural changes in food and temperature. *Journal of Sea Research* **40**, 303-321.
- Klemetsen, A., Amundsen, P.A., Dempson, J.B., *et al.* (2003) Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L., brown trout *Salmo trutta* L. and Arctic charr *Salvelinus alpinus* (L.): a review of aspects of their life histories. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **12**, 1-59.
- Koutsikopoulos, C., Lacroix, N. (1992) Distribution and abundance of sole (*Solea solea* (L.)) eggs and larvae in the Bay of Biscay between 1986 and 1989. *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research* **29**, 81-91.
- Kraus, G., Köster, F.W. (2004) Estimating Baltic sprat (*Sprattus sprattus balticus* S.) population sizes from egg production. *Fisheries Research* **69**, 313-329.
- Kraus, G., Müller, A., Köster, F.W. (1997) Intra- and interannual variation in fecundity of Baltic cod. *ICES C.M.* **1997 CC**:13.
- Kraus, G., Muller, A., Trella, K., Köster, F.W. (2000) Fecundity of Baltic cod: temporal and spatial variation. *Journal of Fish Biology* **56**, 1327-1341.
- Kraus, G., Tomkiewicz, J., Köster, F.W. (2002) Egg production of Baltic cod (*Gadus morhua*) in relation to variable sex ratio, maturity, and fecundity. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **59**, 1908-1920.
- Kurita, Y., Meier, S., Kjesbu, O. (2003) Oocyte growth and fecundity regulation by atresia of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) in relation to body condition throughout the maturation cycle. *Journal of Sea Research* **49**, 203-219.
- Kuznetsov, V.A., Khalitov, N.K. (1978) Alterations in the fecundity and egg quality of the roach, *Rutilus rutilus* in connection with different feeding conditiosn. *Journal of Ichthyology* **18**, 63-70.
- Labarta, U., Ferreiro, M.J., Fenandez, M.T., Martinez, F. (1982) Spawning season and first maturity size and age of the Galician coast pouting (*Trisopterus luscus* L.). *ICES-CM-1982/G:64*.

- Lambert, Y., Dutil., J.D. (2000) Energetic consequences of reproduction in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) in relation to spawning level of somatic energy reserves. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **57**, 815-825.
- Lambert, Y., Yaragina, N.A., Kraus, G., Marteinsdottir, G., Wright, P.J. (2003) Using environmental and biological indices as proxies for egg and larval production of marine fish. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **33**, 115-159.
- Lamkin, J.B. (1900) The spawning habits of the large-mouth black bass in the south. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **29**, 129-138.
- Lapolla, A.E. (2001) Bay anchovy *Anchoa mitchilli* in Narragansett Bay, Rhode island. II. Spawning season, hatch-date distribution and young-of-the-year growth. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **217**, 103-109.
- Lappalainen, J., Dörner, H., Wysujack, K. (2003) Reproduction biology of pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca* (L.)) a review. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **12,** 95-106.
- Laroche, J.L., Richardson, S.L. (1980) Reproduction of northern anchovy, *Engraulis mordax*, off Oregon and Washington. *Fishery Bulletin* **78**, 603-618.
- Larsson, P., Hamrin, S., Okla, L. (1990) Fat content as a factor inducing migratory behavior in the eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) to the Sargasso Sea. *Naturwissenshaften* **77**, 488-490.
- Lauer, T.E., Shroyer, S.M., Kilpatrick, J.M., McComish, T.S., Allen, P.J. (2005) Yellow perch length-fecundity and length-egg size relationships in Indiana waters of Lake Michigan. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **25,** 791-796.
- Lawrence, C., Ebersole, J., Kesseli, R. (2008) Rapid growth and out-crossing promote female development in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **81**, 239-246.
- Lewis, J.C., McMillan, D.B. (1965) The development of the ovary of the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus* L.). *Journal of Morphology* **117**, 425-466.
- Lisovenko, L.A., Andrianov, D.P. (1996) Reproductive biology of anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus ponticus* Alexandrov 1927) in the Black Sea. *Scientia Marina* **60**, 209-218.
- Logan, C., Somero, G. (2008) Transcriptional remodeling during temperature acclimation of the eurythermal goby fish *Gillichthys mirabilis*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology* **150**, S168-S169.
- Lorenzoni, M., Doerr, A.J.M., Erra, R., Giovinazzo, G., Mearelli, M., Selvi, S. (2002) Growth and reproduction of largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides* Lacepede, 1802) in Lake Trasimeno (Umbria, Italy). *Fisheries Research (Amsterdam)* **56**, 89-95.

- Luo, J., Musick, J.A. (1991) Reproductive biology of the bay anchovy in Cheasapeake Bay. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **120**, 701-710.
- Lyagina, T.N. (1972) The seasonal dynamics of the biological characteristics of the roach, *Rutilus rutilus*, under conditions of varying food availability. *Journal of Ichthyology* **12**, 210-226.
- Lyagina, T.N. (1975) Connection of egg weight with biological indices of female roach, *Rutilus* rutilus, with different abundance of food. *Journal of Ichthyology* **15**, 584-594.
- Ma, Y., Kjesbu, O.S., Jørgensen, T. (1998) Effects of ration on the maturation and fecundity in captive Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **55**, 900-908.
- Maceina, M.J. (2003) Verification of the influence of hydrologic factors on crappie recruitment in Alabama reservoirs. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **23**, 470-480.
- MacKay, I., Mann, K. (1969) Fecundity of two cyprinid fishes in the River Thames, Reading, England. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **26,** 2795-2805.
- MacKenzie, B.R., St. John, M.A., Wieland, K. (1996) Eastern Baltic cod: perspectives from existing data on processes affecting growth and survival of eggs and larvae. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **134**, 265-281.
- Madenjian, C.P., Tyson, J.T., Knight, R.L., Kershner, M.W., Hansen, M.J. (1996) First-year growth, recruitment, and maturity of walleyes in western Lake Erie. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **125**, 821-830.
- Magalhães, A.L.B.d., Ratton, T.F. (2005) Reproduction of a South American population of pumpkinseed sunfish *Lepomis gibbosus* (Linnaeus) (Osteichthyes, Centrarchidae): a comparison with the European and North American populations. *Revista Brasileira de Zoologia* **22**, 477-483.
- Malison, J., Procarione, L., Barry, T., Kapuscinski, A., Kayes, T. (1994) Endocrine and gonadal changes during the annual reproductive cycle of the freshwater teleost, *Stizostedion vitreum*. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* **13**, 473-484.
- Malison, J.A., Held, J.A. (1996) Reproduction and spawning in walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum*). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* **12**, 153-156.
- Mann, R.H.K. (1973) Observations on the age, growth, reproduction and food of the roach *Rutilus rutilus* (L.) in two rivers in southern England. *Journal of Fish Biology* **5**, 707-736.
- Maraldo, D.C., MacCrimmon, H.R. (1981) Reproduction, distribution, and population size of largemouth bass, *Micropterus salmoides*, in an oligotrophic precambrian shield lake. *Canadian Field Naturalist* **95**, 298-306.

- Marshall, C.T., Frank, K.T. (1999) The effect of interannual variation in growth and condition on haddock recruitment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **56**, 347-355.
- Marshall, C.T., O'Brien, L., Tomkiewicz, J., *et al.* (2003) Developing alternative indices of reproductive potential for use in fisheries management: case studies for stocks spanning an information gradient. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **33**, 161-190.
- Marteinsdottir, G., Able, K.W. (1988) Geographic variation in egg size among population of the mummichog, *Fundulus heteroclitus* (Pisces: Fundulidae). *Copeia* **1988**, 471-478.
- Marteinsdottir, G., Able, K.W. (1992) Influence of egg size on embryos and larvae of *Fundulus heteroclitus* (L.). *Journal of Fish Biology* **41**, 883-896.
- Marteinsdottir, G., Steinarsson, A. (1998) Maternal influence on the size and viability of Iceland cod *Gadus morhua* eggs and larvae. *Journal of Fish Biology* **52**, 1241-1258.
- Martin, M., Goubier, V., Exbrayat, J.M. (1998) Oocyte degenerative process in black-bass (*Micropterus salmoides*) females prevented from spawning. *Polskie Archiwum Hydrobiologii/Polish Archives of Hydrobiology* **45**, 545-552.
- Martin, M., Goubier, V., Exbrayat, J.M., Kamwira, S. (1999) Effect of environmental factors on oocyte maturation and spawning delay or inhibition, in black-bass (*Micropterus salmoides* L.): Synthesis of the two-year experiments. *Polskie Archiwum Hydrobiologii/Polish Archives of Hydrobiology* **46**, 63-70.
- Mathur, D., McCreight, P.L., Nardacci, G.A. (1979) Variations in fecundity of white crappie in Conowingo Pond, Pennsylvania. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **108**, 548-554.
- Maule, A.G., Horton, H.F. (1985) Probable causes of the rapid growth and high fecundity of walleye, *Stizostedion vitreum vitreum*, in the mid Columbia River. *Fishery Bulletin* **83**, 701-706.
- Mayer, I., Shackley, S.E., Witthames, P.R. (1990) Aspects of the reproductive biology of the bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax* L. II. Fecundity and pattern of oocyte development. *Journal of Fish Biology* **36**, 141-148.
- McBride, R.S., Wuenschel, M.J., Nitschke, P., Thornton, G., King, J.R. (2013) Latitudinal and stock-specific variation in size- and age-at-maturity of female winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus*, as determined with gonad histology. *Journal of Sea Research.* **75**, 41-51.
- McElroy, W.D., Press, Y.K., Towle, E.K., Wuenschel, M.J., McBride, R.S. (2013) Differences in female individual reproductive potential among three stocks of winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus*. *Journal of Sea Research*. **75**, 52-61.

- McEvoy, L.A. (1984) Ovulatory rhythms and over-ripening of eggs in cultivated turbot, *Scophthalmus maximus* L. *Journal of Fish Biology* **24**, 437-448.
- McEvoy, L.A., McEvoy, J. (1991) Size fluctuation in the eggs and newly hatched larvae of captive turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*). *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **71**, 679-690.
- McEvoy, L.A., McEvoy, J. (1992) Multiple spawning in several commercial fish species and its consequences for fisheries management, cultivation and experimentation. *Journal of Fish Biology* **41**, 125-136.
- McFadden, J.T., Cooper, E.L., Andersen, J.K. (1965) Some effects of environment on egg production in brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). *Limnology and Oceanography* **10**, 88-95.
- McGourty, C.R., Hobbs, J.A., Bennett, W.A., *et al.* (2009) Likely population-level effects of contaminants on a resident estuarine fish species: Comparing *Gillichthys mirabilis* population static measurements and vital rates in San Francisco and Tomales bays. *Estuaries and Coasts* **32**, 1111-1120.
- Merayo, C.R. (1996) Reproduction and fecundity of the bib *Trisopterus luscus* (Linneaus, 1758) (Pisces, Gadidae) in the central region of the Cantabrian Sea (northern Spain). *Bol. Inst. Esp. Oceanogr.* **12,** 17-29.
- Methling, C., Tudorache, C., Skov, P., Steffensen, J. (2011) Pop up satellite tags impair swimming performance and energetics of the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*). *Plos One* **6,** 1-8.
- Middaugh, D.P., Hemmer, M.J. (1992) Reproductive ecology of the inland silverside, *Menidia beryllina*, (Pisces: Atherinidae) from Blackwater Bay, Florida. *Copeia* **1992**, 53-61.
- Millner, R., Walsh, S.J., Díaz de Astarloa, J.M. (2005) Atlantic flatfish fisheries. In: *Flatfishes: Biology and Exploitation*. (Ed. R.N. Gibson), Blackwell Science, Oxford, pp. 164-184.
- Millner, R., Whiting, C., Walker, M.G., Witthames, P. (1991) Growth increment, condition and fecundity in sole (*Solea solea* (L.)) from the North Sea and eastern English Channel. *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research* **27**, 433-439.
- Mitchell, A., McCarthy, E., Verspoor, E. (1998) Discrimination of the North Atlantic lesser sandeels *Ammodytes marinus*, *A. tobianus*, *A. dubius* and *Gymnammodytes semisquamatus* by mitochondrial DNA restriction fragment patterns. *Fisheries Research* **36,** 61-65.
- Moles, M.D., Johnston, T.A., Robinson, B.W., Leggett, W.C., Casselman, J.M. (2008) Is gonadal investment in walleye (*Sander vitreus*) dependent on body lipid reserves? A multipopulation comparative analysis. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic*

- Science **65**, 600-614.
- Molinero, A., Flos, R. (1992) Influence of season on the feeding habits of the common sole *Solea solea. Marine Biology* **113**, 499-507.
- Mollet, F.M., Engelhard, G.H., Vainikka, A., Laugen, A.T., Rijnsdorp, A.D., Ernande, B. in press. Spatial variation in growth, maturation schedules and reproductive investment of female sole *Solea solea* in the Northeast Atlantic. *Journal of Sea Research*. (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2012.12.005)
- Möllmann, C., Kornilovs, G., Sidrevics, L. (2000) Long-term dynamics of main mesozooplankton in the Central Baltic Sea. *Journal of Plankton Research* **22**, 2015-2038.
- Motos, L. (1996) Reproductive biology and fecundity of the Bay of Biscay anchovy population (*Engraulis encrasicolus* L.). *Scientia Marina* **60** (**Suppl. 2**), 195-207.
- Mugnier, C., Guennoc, M., Lebegue, E., Fostier, A., Breton, B. (2000) Induction and synchronisation of spawning in cultivated turbot *Scophthalmus maximus* L. broodstock by implantation of a sustained-release GnRH-a pellet. *Aquaculture and Fisheries Management* **181**, 241-255.
- Murua, H., Kraus, G., Saborido-Rey, F., Witthames, P.R., Thorsen, A., Junquera, S. (2003) Procedures to estimate fecundity of marine fish species in relation to their reproductive strategy. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **33**, 33-54.
- Mustać, B., Sinovčić, G. (2009) Comparison of mesenteric and tissue fat content in relation to sexual cycle of the sardine, *Sardina pilchardus* (Walb., 1792), in the eastern Middle Adriatic fishery grounds (Croatia). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* **25**, 595-599.
- Muus, B.J., Nielsen, J.G. (1999) Seafish, Blackwell Science, Oxford, UK.
- Mylonas, C.C., Sigelaki, I., Divanach, P., Mananos, E., Carrillo, M., Afonso-Polyviou, A. (2003) Multiple spawning and egg quality of individual European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) females after repeated injections of GnRHa. *Aquaculture* **221**, 605-620.
- Nakazono, A. (1993) One-parent removal experiment in the brood-caring damselfish, *Acanthochromis polyacanthus*, with preliminary data on reproductive biology. *Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* **44**, 699-707.
- Nash, R.D.M., Witthames, P.R., Pawson, M., Alesworth, E. (2000) Regional variability in the dynamics of reproduction and growth of Irish Sea plaice, *Pleuronectes platessa* L. *Journal of Sea Research* **44**, 55-64.
- Navas, J.M.O., Thrush, M., Zanuy, S., Ramos, J., Bromage, N., Carrillo, M. (2001) Total lipid in the broodstock diet did not affect fatty acid composition and quality of eggs from sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.). *Scientia Marina* **65**, 11-19.

- Neal, J.W., Noble, R.L. (2006) Bioenergetics-based approach to explain largemouth bass size in tropical reservoirs. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **135**, 1535-1545.
- Nelson, J.S., Crossman, E.J., Espinosa-Pérez, H., et al. (2004) Common and Scientific Names of Fishes from the United States, Canada, and Mexico, 6th ed., Special Publication 29, American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.
- Neumann, R.M., Murphy, B.R. (1992) Seasonal relationships of relative weight to body composition in white crappie, *Pomoxis annularis* Rafinesque. *Aquaculture and Fisheries Management* **23**, 243-251.
- Nõges, P., Järvet, A. (2005) Climate driven changes in the spawning of roach (*Rutilus rutilus* (L.)) and bream (*Abramis brama* (L.)) in the Estonian part of the Narva River basin. *Boreal Environment Research* **10**, 45-55.
- Nordeng, H. (1983) Solution to the" char problem" based on Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) in Norway. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **40,** 1372-1387.
- O'Brien, L. (1999) Factors influencing the rate of sexual maturity and the effect on spawning stock for Georges Bank and Gulf of Maine Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua* stocks. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **25**, 179-203.
- Oliveira, K., Hable, W.E. (2010) Artificial maturation, fertilization, and early development of the American eel (*Anguilla rostrata*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **88,** 1121-1128.
- Oliveira, K., McCleave, J.D. (2000) Variation in population and life history traits of the American eel, *Anguilla rostrata*, in four rivers in Maine. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **59**, 141-151.
- Osburn, R.C. (1923) Natural and artificial conditions detrimental to the black basses. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **53**, 27-49.
- Óskarsson, G., Kjesbu, O., Slotte, A. (2002) Predictions of realised fecundity and spawning time in Norwegian spring-spawning herring (*Clupea harengus*). *Journal of Sea Research* **38**, 59-79.
- Oskarsson, G.J., Taggart, C.T. (2006) Fecundity variation in Icelandic summer-spawning herring and implications for reproductive potential. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **63**, 493-503.
- Palomera, I., Rubies, P., (Eds.) (1996) The European anchovy and its environment. *Scientia Marina* **60** (**Suppl. 2**), 1-299.
- Palstra, A.P., Cohen, E.G.H., Niemantsverdriet, P.R.W., van Ginneken, V.J.T., van den Thillart, G.E.E.J.M. (2005) Artificial maturation and reproduction of European silver eel: Development of oocytes during final maturation. *Aquaculture* **249**, 533-547.

- Palstra, A.P., van den Thillart, G. (2010) Swimming physiology of European silver eels (*Anguilla anguilla* L.): energetic costs and effects on sexual maturation and reproduction. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* **36**, 297-322.
- Pankhurst, N.W., Fitzgibbon, Q.P., Pankhurst, P.M., King, H.R. (2008) Habitat-related variation in reproductive endocrine condition in the coral reef damselfish *Acanthochromis* polyacanthus. General and Comparative Endocrinology **155**, 386-397.
- Pankhurst, N.W., Hilder, P.I., Pankhurst, P.M. (1999) Reproductive condition and behavior in relation to plasma levels of gonadal steroids in the spiny damselfish *Acanthochromis polyacanthus*. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **115**, 53-69.
- Pankhurst, N.W., Sorensen, P.W. (1984) Degeneration of the alimentary tract in sexually maturing European *Anguilla anguilla* (L.) and American eels *Anguilla rostrata* (LeSueur). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **62,** 1143-1149.
- Parrish, R.H., Mallicoate, D.L., Klingbeil, R.A. (1986) Age dependent fecundity, number of spawnings per year, sex ratio, and maturation stages in northern anchovy, *Engraulis mordax*. *Fishery Bulletin* **84**, 503-517.
- Pawson, M.G., Pickett, G.D., Leballeur, J., Brown, M., Fritsch, M. (2007) Migrations, fishery interactions, and management units of sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) in northwest Europe. *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil* **64,** 332-345.
- Peebles, E.B. (2002) Temporal resolution of biological and physical influences on bay anchovy *Anchoa mitchilli* egg abundance near a river-plume frontal zone. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **237**, 257-269.
- Peebles, E.B., Hall, J.R., Tolley, S.G. (1996) Egg production by the bay anchovy *Anchoa mitchilli* in relation to adult and larval prey fields. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **131**, 61-73.
- Pereira, J.J., Goldberg, R., Ziskowski, J.J., Berrien, P.L., Morse, W.W., Johnson, D.L. (1999) Essential Fish Habitat Source Document: Winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus*, life history and habitat characteristics. *NOAA Technical Memorandum* **NMFS-NE-138**, 39 pp.
- Perrow, M.R., Peirson, G., Townsend, C.R. (1990) The dynamics of a population of roach (*Rutilus rutilus* (L.)) in a shallow lake: is there a 2-year cycle in recruitment? *Hydrobiologia* **191**, 67-73.
- Petrova, E.G. (1960) On the fecundity and the maturation of the Baltic sprat. *Trudy Vsesojuznyj* naucno issledovatelskij Institut Morskogo Rybnogo Khozjajstva i Okeanografii (VNIRO), Moscow, **42**, 99-108.

- Petrovski, N.N. (1960) Nastapuvanye na polova zrelost I plodnost na Dojranskata Perkija. *Izdaniya (Zavod za Ribarstvo na NR Makedonija)* **3,** 1-131.
- Pine, W.E., III, Allen, M.S. (2001) Differential growth and survial of weekly age-0 black crappie cohorts in Florida Lake. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **130**, 80-91.
- Planes, S., Doherty, P.J., Bernard, G. (2001) Strong genetic divergence among populations of a marine fish with limited dispersal, *Acanthochromis polyacanthus*, within the Great Barrier Reef and the Coral Sea. *Evolution* **55**, 2263-2273.
- Polivaiko, A.G. (1980) Some data on maturation (ripening), spawning and fecundity of Baltic sprat. *Fisherei-Forschung* **18**, 69-72
- Pope, K.L., Geraets, W.T., Willis, D.W. (1996) Egg development in a high-density black crappie (*Pomoxis nigromaculatus*) population. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology* **11**, 451-458.
- Puente, E. (1988) Age and growth of bib *Trisopterus luscus* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Pisces, Gadidae) on the French Atlantic coast. *Boletín del Instituto Español de Oceanografía* **5,** 37-55.
- Raffetto, N.S., J.R.Baylis, S.L.Serns (1990) Complete estimates of reproductive success in a closed population of smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieui*). *Ecology* **71**, 1523-1535.
- Randall, R.G. (1989) Effect of sea-age on the reproductive potential of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in eastern Canada. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **46**, 2210-2218.
- Reagan, R. E., Jr. (1969) Organic composition of twenty-two species of freshwater fishes in Alabama. Master's thesis. Auburn University, Alabama (not seen, cited by Goodgame and Miranda, 1993).
- Reimchen, T.E. (1992) Extended longevity in a large-bodied stickleback, *Gasterosteus*, population. *The Canadian Field-Naturalist* **106**, 122-125.
- Rennie, M.D., Purchase, C.F., Lester, N., Collins, N.C., Shuter, B.J., Abrams, P.A. (2008) Lazy males? Bioenergetic differences in energy acquisition and metabolism help to explain sexual size dimorphism in percids. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **77**, 916-926.
- Rideout, R.M., Rose, G.A., Burton, M.P.M. (2005) Skipped spawning in female iteroparous fishes. *Fish and Fisheries* **6**, 50-72.
- Rideout, S.G., Burton, M.P.M., Rose, G.A. (2000) Observations on mass atresia and skipped spawning in northern cod, *Gadus morhua* L., from Smith Sound, Newfoundland. *Journal of Fish Biology* **57**, 1429-1440.
- Rijnsdorp, A.D. (1989) Maturation of male and female North Sea plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa* L.). *Journal du Conseil: ICES Journal of Marine Science* **46**, 35-51.

- Rijnsdorp, A.D. (1990) The mechanism of energy allocation over reproduction and somatic growth in North Sea Plaice, *Pleuronectes platessa* L. *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research* **25**, 279-290.
- Rijnsdorp, A.D., Daan, N., Vanbeek, F.A., Heessen, H.J.L. (1991) Reproductive variability in North Sea plaice, sole, and cod. *Journal Du Conseil* **47**, 352-375.
- Rijnsdorp, A.D., Ibelings, B. (1989) Sexual dimorphism in the energetics of reproduction and growth of North Sea plaice, (*Pleuronectes platessa* L.). *Journal of Fish Biology* **35**, 401-415.
- Rijnsdorp, A.D., Witthames, P.R. (2005) Ecology of reproduction. In: *Flatfishes: Biology and Exploitation*. (Ed. R.N. Gibson), Blackwell Science, Oxford, pp. 68-93.
- Rikardsen, A.H., Elliott, J.M. (2000) Variations in juvenile growth, energy allocation and lifehistory strategies of two populations of Arctic charr in North Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* **56**, 328-346.
- Rinchard, J., Kestemont, P. (1996) Comparative study of reproductive biology in single- and multiple-spawner cyrpinid fish. I. Morphological and histological features. *Journal of Fish Biology* **49**, 883-894.
- Robb, A.P. (1982) Histological observations on the reproductive biology of the haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* (L.). *Journal of Fish Biology* **20,** 397-408.
- Robertson, D.R. (1973) Field observations on the reproductive behaviour of a Pomacentrid fish, *Acanthochromis polyacanthus. Zeitschrift fur Tierpsychologie* **32**, 319-324.
- Rodriguez-Sánchez, V., Encina, L., Rodríguez-Ruiz, A., Sánchez-Carmona, R. (2009) Largemouth bass, *Micropterus salmoides*, growth and reproduction in Primera de Palos' lake (Huelva, Spain). *Folia Zoologica* **58**, 436-446.
- Roff, D.A. (1981) Reproductive uncertainty and the evolution of iteroparity: why don't flatfish put all their eggs in one basket? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **38**, 968-977.
- Rogers, M.W., Allen, M.S., Porak, W.F. (2006) Separating genetic and environmental influences on temporal spawning distributions of largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **63**, 2391-2399.
- Rosenblum, P., Horne, H., Garwood, G., Brandt, T., Villarreal, B. (1995) Delayed ovarian development and reduced fecundity in largemouth bass raised on a pelleted feed containing high levels of steroids and low levels of archidonic acid. In: *Fifth International Symposium on the Reproductive Physiology of Fish*, 2-8 July 1995. University of Texas at Austin, Austin, Texas, U.S.A.

- Rosenblum, P.M., Brandt, T.M., Mayes, K.B., Hutson, P. (1994) Annual cycles of growth and reproduction in hatchery-reared Florida largemouth bass, *Micropterus salmoides floridanus*, raised on forage or pelleted diets. *Journal of Fish Biology* **44**, 1045-1059.
- Rowe, D.K., Thorpe, J.E. (1990) Suppression of maturation in male Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) parr by reduction in feeding and growth during spring months. *Aquaculture* **86**, 291-313.
- Rowinski, Y., McBride, R., Wuenschel, M., McElroy, D. (2010) A histological atlas of female winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*) oogenesis. *Abstracts of the 12th Flatfish Biology Conference, December 1-2, 2010. Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document 10-21,* (http://nefsc.noaa.gov/publications/crd/crd1021/crd1021.pdf).
- Ruzzante, D.E., Hansen, M.M., Meldrup, D., Ebert, K.M. (2004) Stocking impact and migration pattern in an anadromous brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) complex: where have all the stocked spawning sea trout gone? *Molecular Ecology* **13**, 1433-1445.
- Sandlund, O.T., Gunnarsson, K., Jónasson, P.M., et al. (1992) The Arctic charr Salvelinus alpinus in Thingvallavatn. Oikos 64, 305-351.
- Schaffer, W.M., Elson, P.F. (1975) The adaptive significance of variations in life history among local populations of Atlantic salmon in North America. *Ecology* **56**, 577-590.
- Schismenou, E., Somarakis, S., Thorsen, A., Kjesbu, O.S. (2012) Dynamics of de novo vitellogenesis in fish with indeterminate fecundity: an application of oocyte packing density theory to European anchovy, *Engraulis encrasicolus*. *Marine Biology* **159**, 757-768.
- Schloemer, C.L. (1947) Reproductive cycles in five species of Texas centrarchids. *Science* **106**, 85-86.
- Schueller, A.M., Hansen, M.J., Newman, S.P., Edwards, C.J. (2005) Density dependence of walleye maturity and fecundity in Big Crooked Lake, Wisconsin, 1997-2003. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **25**, 841-847.
- Schultz, E.T., Reynolds, K.E., Conover, D.O. (1996) Countergradient variation in growth among newly hatched *Fundulus heteroclitus*: Geographic differences revealed by commonenvironment experiments. *Functional Ecology* **10**, 366-374.
- Selman, K., Wallace, R.A., Sarka, A., Qi, X. (1993) Stages of oocyte development in the zebrafish, *Brachydanio rerio. Journal of Morphology* **218**, 203-224.
- Seppä, T., Laurila, A., Peuhkuri, N., Piironen, J., Lower, N. (2001) Early familiarity has fitness consequences for Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) juveniles. *Canadian Journal of*

- *Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences* **58,** 1380.
- Serebryakov, V.P., Borisov, B.M., Aldonov, V.K. (1984) Population fecundity and abundance of year-classes of the Arcto-Norwegian cod. In: *Reproduction and Recruitment of Arctic Cod. The Proceedings of the Soviet-Norwegian Symposium, Leningrad, 26-30 September 1983*. (Eds. O.R. Godø, S. Tilseth), *Institute of Marine Research, Bergen, Norway*, pp. 139-156.
- Sherrill, M.T., Middaugh, D.P. (1993) Spawning periodicity of the inland silverside, *Menidia beryllina*, (Pisces: Atherinidae) in the laboratory: relationship to lunar cycles. *Copeia* **1993**, 522-528.
- Sherwood, G.D., Rideout, R.M., Fudge, S.B., Rose, G.A. (2007) Influence of diet on growth, condition and reproductive capacity in Newfoundland and Labrador cod (*Gadus morhua*): Insights from stable carbon isotopes (δ13C). *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography* **54,** 2794-2809.
- Shima, A., Mitani, H. (2004) Medaka as a research organism: past, present and future. *Mechanisms of Development* **121**, 599-604.
- Shirokova, M.Y. (1977) The sexual maturation rate of female Baltic cod *Gadus morhua callarias* L. *Journal of Ichthyology* **17**, 650-658.
- Shkitsky, V.A. (1967) On spawning of sprat in the central regions of the Baltic Sea. *Rybnoe khozjaistvo (Fisheries), Moscow* **6,** 5-7.
- Shulman, G.E., Schepkin, V.Y., Jakovleva, K.K., Minyuk, G.S., Getmantsev, B.A., Levin, S.Y. (1985) Formation of commercial concentration, annual fluctuations of fatness of the Black Sea sprat. *Rybnoe khozjaistvo (Fisheries), Moscow* **5**, 26-28.
- Siefert, R.E. (1968) Reproductive behavior, incubation, and mortality of eggs, and postlarval food selection in the white crappie. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **97**, 252-259.
- Silva, A., Carrera, P., Massé, J., *et al.* (2008) Geographic variability of sardine growth across the northeastern Atlantic and the Mediterranean Sea. *Fisheries Research (Amsterdam)* **90**, 56-69.
- Silva, A., Santos, M.B., Caneco, B., *et al.* (2006) Temporal and geographic variability of sardine maturity at length in the northeastern Atlantic and the western Mediterranean. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **63**, 663-676.
- Simpson, A.L., Metcalfe, N.B., Huntingford, F.A., Thorpe, J.E. (1996) Pronounced seasonal differences in appetite of Atlantic salmon parr, *Salmo salar*: Effects of nutritional state and life-history strategy. *Functional Ecology* **10**, 760-767.

- Skjæraasen, J.E., Kennedy, J., Thorsen, A., et al. (2009) Mechanisms regulating oocyte recruitment and skipped spawning in northeast Arctic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences **66**, 1582-1596.
- Skjæraasen, J.E., Korsbrekke, K., Kjesbu, O.S., Fonn, M., Nilsen, T., Nash, R.D.M. (2013) Size, energy- and stage-dependent fecundity and the occurrence of atresia in the Northeast Arctic haddock *Melanogrammus aeglefinus*. *Fisheries Research* **138**, 120-127.
- Skjæraasen, J.E., Nash, R.D.M., Korsbrekke, K., et al. (2012) Frequent skipped spawning in the world's largest cod population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **109**, 8995-8999.
- Skjaeraasen, J.E., Nilsen, T., Kjesbu, O.S. (2006) Timing and determination of potential fecundity in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **63**, 310-320.
- Sloss, B.L., Billington, N., Burr, B.M. (2004) A molecular phylogeny of the Percidae (Teleostei, Perciformes) based on mitochondrial DNA sequence. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **32**, 545-562.
- Slotte, A. (1999) Differential utilization of energy during wintering and spawning migration in Norwegian spring-spawning herring. *Journal of Fish Biology* **54**, 338-355.
- Slotte, A., Fiksen, Ø. (2000) State-dependent spawning migration in Norwegian spring-spawning herring. *Journal of Fish Biology* **56,** 138-162.
- Smith, H.M. (1898) Fishes found in vicinity of Woods Hole. *Bulletin of the United States Fish Commission* **XVII**, 85-111.
- Smith, S.J., Marsden, J.E. (2007) Predictive morphometric relationships for estimating fecundity of sea lampreys from Lake Champlain and other landlocked populations. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **136**, 979-987.
- Smith, S.L.E.E. (1976) Behavioral suppression of spawning in largemouth bass by interspecific competition for space within spawning areas. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **105**, 682-685.
- Snow, J.R. (1970) Fecundity of largemouth bass, *Micropterus salmoides*, Lecepede reciving artificial food. *Proceedings of the Southeastern Association of Game and Fish Commissioners* **24**, 550-559.
- Somarakis, S. (2005) Marked interannual differences in reproductive parameters and daily egg production of anchovy in the northern Aegean Sea. *Belgian Journal of Zoology* **135**, 247-252.
- Somarakis, S., Ganias, K., Siapatis, A., Koutsikopoulos, C., Machias, A., Papaconstantinou, C.

- (2006b) Spawning habitat and daily egg production of sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) in the eastern Mediterranean. *Fisheries Oceanography* **15**, 281-292.
- Somarakis, S., Palomera, I., Garcia, A., *et al.* (2004) Daily egg production of anchovy in European waters. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **61**, 944-958.
- Somarakis, S., Schismenou, E., Machias, A. (2007) Meta-analysis of anchovy egg production parameters. (Proceedings of the NAFO/PICES/ICES Symposium on "Reproductive and recruitment processes of exploited marine fish stocks", Lisbon, Portugal, 1-3 October, Book of Abstracts, p. 63.
- Somarakis, S., Schismenou, E., Siapatis, A., Giannoulaki, M., Kallianiotis, A., Machias, A. (2012) High variability in the Daily Egg Production Method parameters of an eastern Mediterranean anchovy stock: Influence of environmental factors, fish condition and population density. *Fisheries Research* **117-118**, 12-21.
- Somarakis, S., Tsianis, D.E., Machias, A., Stergiou, K.I. (2006a) An overview of biological data related to anchovy and sardine stocks in Greek waters. In: *Fishes in Databases and Ecosystems. Fisheries Centre Research Reports* Vol. 14(4). (Eds. M.L.D. Palomares, K.I. Stergiou, D. Pauly), Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia, pp. 56-64.
- Sorokin, V.P. (1957) The oogenesis and reproduction cycle of the cod (*Gadus morhua* Linn.). *Trudy PINRO* **10**, 125-144. [In Russian (English translation No. 72F49, Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, United Kingdon, 1961)].
- Spence, R., Fatema, M.K., Ellis, S., Ahmed, Z.F., Smith, C. (2007) Diet, growth and recruitment of wild zebrafish in Bangladesh. *Journal of Fish Biology* **71**, 304-309.
- Stoeckel, J.N., Heidinger, R.C. (1988) Overwintering of the inland silverside in southern Illinois. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **8,** 127-131.
- Stoner, A.W., Bejda, A.J., Manderson, J.P., Phelan, B.A., Stehlik, L.L., Pessutti, J.P. (1999) Behavior of winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus*, during the reproductive season: laboratory and field observations on spawning, feeding, and locomotion. *Fishery Bulletin* **97**, 999-1016.
- Stranahan, J.J. (1908) Some peculiarities in spawning habits of large-mouth black bass. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **37**, 157-159.
- Stratoudakis, Y., Coombs, S., de Lanzós, A., *et al.* (2007) Sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) spawning seasonality in European waters of the northeast Atlantic. *Marine Biology* **152**, 201-212.
- Sulistyo, I., Rinchard, J., Fontaine, P., Gardeur, J.-N., Capdeville, B., Kestemont, P. (1998) Reproductive cycle and plasma levels of sex steroids in female Eurasian perch *Perca fluviatilis*. *Aquatic Living Resources* **11**, 101-110.

- Sztramko, L., Teleki, G.C. (1977) Annual variation in the fecundity of yellow perch from Long Point Bay, Lake Erie. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **106**, 578-582.
- Takasuka, A., Oozeki, Y., Kubota, H., Tsuruta, Y., Funamoto, T. (2005) Temperature impacts on reproductive parameters for Japanese anchovy: Comparison between inshore and offshore waters. *Fisheries Research* **76**, 475-482.
- Taranger, G.L., Carrillo, M., Schulz, R.W., *et al.* (2010) Control of puberty in farmed fish. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **165**, 483-515.
- Taylor, M.H. (1986) Environmental and endocrine influences on reproduction of *Fundulus heteroclitus*. *American Zoologist* **26**, 159-171.
- Taylor, M.H., Leach, G.J., MiMichele, L., Levitan, W.M., Jacob, W.F. (1979) Lunar spawning cycle in the mummichog, *Fundulus heteroclitus* (Pisces: Cyprinodontidae). *Copeia* **1979**, 291-297.
- Teixeira, C.M., Cabral, H.N. (2010) Comparative analysis of the diet, growth and reproduction of the soles, *Solea solea* and *Solea senegalensis*, occurring in sympatry along the Portuguese coast. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **90**, 995-1003.
- Tesch, F.W. (1977) *The eel: biology and management of anguillid eels*, Chapman and Hall, London.
- Thomas, J.L., Kilambi, R.V. (1981) Maturation, spawning period, and fecundity of the white crappie *Pomoxis annularis* Rafinesque, in Beaver Reservoir, Arkansas. *Arkansas Academy of Science Proceedings* **35**, 70-73.
- Thorpe, J.E. (1977) Morphology, Physiology, Behavior, and Ecology of *Perca fluviatilis* L. and *P. flavescens* Mitchill. *J. Fish. Res. Board. Can.* **34,** 1504-1514.
- Thorsen, A., Marshall, C.T., Kjesbu, O.S. (2006) Comparison of various potential fecundity models for north-east Arctic cod *Gadus morhua*, L. using oocyte diameter as a standardizing factor. *Journal of Fish Biology* **69**, 1709-1730.
- Thresher, R.E. (1983) Habitat effects on reproductive success in the coral reef fish, *Acanthochromis polyacanthus* (Pomacentridae). *Ecology* **64**, 1184-1199.
- Thresher, R.E. (1985) Distribution, abundance, and reproductive success in the coral reef fish *Acanthochromis polyacanthus. Ecology* **66**, 1139-1150.
- Timmons, T.J., Shelton, W.L., Davies, W.D. (1980) Gonad development, fecundity and spawning season of largemouth bass in newly impounded west point reservoir, Alabama-Georgia. *Technical Papers of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service* **No. 100**.

- Topp, R. (1968) An estimate of fecundity of the winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes* americanus. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada **25**, 1299-1302.
- Townsend, C.R., Sutherland, W.J., Perrow, M.R. (1990) A modelling investigation of population cycles in the fish *Rutilus rutilus*. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **59**, 469-485.
- Treasurer, J.W. (1981) Some aspects of the reproductive biology of perch *Perca fluviatilis* L. Fecundity, maturation and spawning behaviour. *Journal of Fish Biology* **18**, 729-740.
- Treasurer, J.W., Holliday, F.G.T. (1981) Some aspects of the reproductive biology of perch *Perca fluviatilis* L. A histological description of the reproductive cycle. *Journal of Fish Biology* **18**, 359-376.
- Trexler, J.C. (1997) Resource availability and plasticity in offspring provisioning: Embryo nourishment in sailfin mollies. *Ecology* **78**, 1370-1381.
- Tricas, T.C. (1986) Life History, Foraging Ecology, and Territorial Behavior of the Hawaiian Butterflyfish, *Chaetodon multicinctus*. *Ph. D. Dissertation*. *University of Hawaii*. 248 pp.
- Tricas, T.C. (1989a) Prey selection by coral-feeding butterflyfishes: strategies to maximize the profit. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **25,** 171-185.
- Tricas, T.C. (1989b) Determinants of feeding territory size in the corallivorous butterflyfish, *Chaetodon multicinctus*. *Animal Behavior* **31**, 830-841.
- Tricas, T.C., Hiramoto, J.T. (1989) Sexual differentiation, gonad development, and spawning seasonality of the Hawaiian butterflyfish, *Chaetodon multicinctus*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **25**, 111-124.
- Trippel, E.A., Neil, S.R.E. (2004) Maternal and seasonal differences in egg sizes and spawning activity of northwest Atlantic haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*) in relation to body size and condition. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **61**, 2097-2110.
- Tsai, G.-F., Gibson, G.R. (1971) Fecundity of the yellow perch, *Perca flavescens* Mitchill, in the Patuxent River, Maryland. *Chesapeake Science* **12**, 270-284.
- Tsuruta, Y., Hirose, K. (1989) Internal regulation of reproduction in the Japanese anchovy (*Engraulis japonicus*) as related to population fluctuation. *Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **108**, 111-119.
- Türkmen, M. (2003) Investigation of some population parameters of common sole, *Solea solea* (L., 1758) from İskenderun Bay. *Turkish Journal of Vetrinary Animal Science* **27,** 317-323.
- Tyler, A.V., Dunn, R.S. (1976) Ration, growth, and measures of somatic and organ condition in

- relation to meal frequency in winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus*, with hypotheses regarding population homeostasis. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **33**, 63-75.
- Ulloa, P.E., Iturra, P., Neira, R., Araneda, C. (2011) Zebrafish as a model organism for nutrition and growth: towards comparative studies of nutritional genomics applied to aquacultured fishes. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **21**, 649-666.
- Urban, H.J. (1991) Reproductive strategies of North Sea plaice, *Pleuronectes platessa*, and North Sea sole, *Solea solea*, batch spawning cycle and batch fecundity. *Meeresforschung-Reports on Marine Research* **33**, 330-339.
- Uriarte, A., Alday, A., Santos, M., Motos, L. (2012) A re-evaluation of the spawning fraction estimation procedures for Bay of Biscay anchovy, a species with short interspawning intervals. *Fisheries Research* **117-118**, 96-111.
- Uusi-Heikkilä, S., Kuparinen, A., Wolter, C., Meinelt, T., O'Toole, A.C., Arlinghaus, R. (2011) Experimental assessment of the probabilistic maturation reaction norm: condition matters. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **278**, 709-717.
- Vila-Gispert, A., Moreno-Amich, R. (2000) Fecundity and spawning mode of three introduced fish species in Lake Banyoles (Catalunya, Spain) in comparison with other localities. *Aquatic Sciences* **62**, 154-166.
- Vinagre, C., Ferreira, T., Matos, L., Costa, M.J., Cabral, H.N. (2009) Latitudinal gradients in growth and spawning of sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*, and their relationship with temperature and photoperiod. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* **81**, 375-380.
- Vladykov, V.D. (1951) Fecundity of Quebec lampreys. Canadian Fish Culturist 10, 1-14.
- de Vlaming, V.L. (1971) The effects of food deprivation and salinity changes on reproductive function in the estuarine gobiid fish, *Gillichthys mirabilis*. *Biological Bulletin* **141**, 458-471.
- de Vlaming, V.L. (1972a) Reproductive cycling in the estuarine gobiid fish, *Gillichthys mirabilis*. *Copeia* **1972**, 278-291.
- de Vlaming, V.L. (1972b) The effects of temperature and photoperiod on reproductive cycling in the estuarine gobiid fish, *Gillichthys mirabilis*. *Fishery Bulletin* **70**, 1137-1152.
- de Vlaming, V.L. (1972c) The role of the endocrine system in temperature-controlled reproductive cycling in the estuarine gobiid fish, *Gillichthys mirabilis*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology* **41A**, 697-713.
- Vøllestad, L.A. (1992) Geographic variation in age and length at metamorphosis of maturing

- European eel: environmental effects and phenotypic plasticity. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **61,** 41-48.
- Vøllestad, L.A., L'Abée-Lund, J.H. (1990) Geographic variation in life-history strategy of female roach, *Rutilus rutilus* (L.). *Journal of Fish Biology* **37**, 853-864.
- Vouglitois, J.J., Able, K.W., Kurtz, R.J., Tighe, K.A. (1987) Life history and population dynamics of the bay anchovy in New Jersey. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **116**, 141-153.
- Walker, B.W., Whitney, R.R., Barlow, G.W. (1961) The fishes of the Salton Sea. In: *The Ecology of the Salton Sea, California, in Relation to the Sportfishery. California Department of Fish and Game Fish Bulletin No. 113.* (Ed. B.W. Walker), pp. 77-91.
- Wallace, R., Selman, K. (1978) Oogenesis in *Fundulus heteroclitus*. 1. Preliminary observations on oocyte maturation *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Developmental Biology* **62**, 354-369.
- Wallace, R.A., Selman, K. (1979) Physiological aspects of oogenesis in two species of sticklebacks, *Gasterosteus aculeatus* L. and *Apeltes quadracus* (Mitchill). *Journal of Fish Biology* **14**, 551-564.
- Wallace, R.A., Selman, K. (1980) Oogenesis in *Fundulus heteroclitus* II. The transition from vitellogenesis into maturation. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **42**, 345-354.
- Wallace, R.A., Selman, K. (1981a) Cellular and dynamic aspects of oocyte growth in teleosts. *American Zoologist* **21**, 325-343.
- Wallace, R.A., Selman, K. (1981b) The reproductive activity of *Fundulus heteroclitus* females from Woods Hole, Massachusetts, as compared with more southern locations. *Copeia* **1981**, 212-215.
- Walsh, S.J., Wells, R., Brennan, S. (1986) Histological and visual observations on oogenesis and sexual maturity of Flemish Cap female cod. In: *North Atlantic Fisheries Organization Scientific Council Research Document*. Vol. No. 86/111.
- Wang, S.B., Houde, E.D. (1994) Energy storage and dynamics in bay anchovy, *Anchoa mitchilli*. *Marine Biology* **121**, 219-227.
- Wassef, E., El Emary, H. (1989) Contribution to the biology of bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax* L. in the Egyptian Mediterranean waters off Alexandria. *Cybium* **13**, 327-345.
- Waters, D.S., Noble, R.L. (2004) Spawning season and nest fidelity of largemouth bass in a tropical reservoir. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **24**, 1240-1251.
- Wedekind, C. (1996) Lek-like spawning behaviour and different female mate preferences in roach (*Rutilus rutilus*). *Behaviour* **133**, 681-695.

- WGEEL, (Working Group on Eels) (2012) Report of the 2012 Session of the Joint EIFAAC/ICES Working Group on Eels. Copenhagen, Denmark, 3-9 September 2012. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea CM 2012/ACOM:18. European Inland Fisheries and Aquaculture Advisory Commission Occasional Paper No. 49.
- Wheeler, A. (1978) Key to the fishes of Northern Europe: a guide to the identification of more than 350 species, Frederick Warne, London.
- Wheeler, A. (1992) A List of the Common and Scientific Names of Fishes of the British Isles. *Journal of Fish Biology* **41**, 1-37.
- Whitehead, P.J.P., Bauchot, M.L., Hureau, J.C., Nielsen, J., Tortonese, E. (1986) Fishes of the North-eastern Atlantic and the Mediterranean, UNESCO, Paris.
- Wigley, R.L. (1959) Life history of the sea lamprey of Cayuga Lake, New York. *Fishery Bulletin* **59**, 561-617.
- Wigley, S.E. (1999) Effects of first-time spawners on stock-recruitment relationships for two groundfish species. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science* **25**, 215-218.
- Winslade, P. (1974a) Behavioural studies on the lesser sandeel *Ammodytes marinus* (Raitt) I. The effect of food availability on activity and the role of olfaction in food detection. *Journal of Fish Biology* **6**, 565-576
- Winslade, P. (1974b) Behavioural studies on the lesser sandeel *Ammodytes marinus* (Raitt) III. The effect of temperature on activity and the environmental control of the annual cycle of activity. *Journal of Fish Biology* **6,** 587-599.
- Witherell, D.B., Burnett, J. (1993) Growth and maturation of winter flounder, *Pleuronectes americanus*, in Massachusetts. *Fishery Bulletin* **91**, 816-820.
- Witthames, P.R., Greenwood, L.N., Thorsen, A., *et al.* (2009) Advances in methods for determining fecundity: application of the new methods to some marine fishes. *Fishery Bulletin* **107**, 148-164.
- Witthames, P.R., Greer Walker, M. (1995) Determinacy of fecundity and oocyte atresia in sole (*Solea solea*) from the Channel, the North Sea and the Irish Sea. *Aquatic Living Resources* **8**, 91-109.
- Witthames, P.R., Greer Walker, M., Dinis, M.T., Whiting, C.L. (1995) The geographical variation in the potential annual fecundity of Dover sole *Solea solea* (L.) from European shelf waters during 1991. *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research* **34**, 45-58.
- Wolfert, D.R. (1969) Maturity and fecundity of walleyes from the eastern and western basins of Lake Erie. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **26,** 1877-1888.

- Wood, R.J. (1958) Fat cycles of North Sea herring. *Journal du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer* **23**, 390-398.
- Woodhead, A.D. (1960) Nutrition and reproductive capacity in fish. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **19,** 23-28.
- Wootton, R.J. (1973) The effect of size of food ration on egg production in the female three-spined stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus* L. *Journal of Fish Biology* **5**, 89-96.
- Wootton, R.J. (1977) Effect of food limitation during the breeding season on the size, body components and egg production of female sticklebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*). *Journal of Animal Ecology* **46**, 823-834.
- Wootton, R.J., Fletcher, D.A. (2009) Effect of spawning number and ration on reproductive performance of the batch-spawning three-spined stickleback *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. *Journal of Fish Biology* **75**, 618-629.
- Wuenschel, M.J., Able, K.W., Byrne, D. (2009) Seasonal patterns of winter flounder *Pseudopleuronectes americanus* abundance and reproductive condition on the New York Bight continental shelf. *Journal of Fish Biology* **74**, 1508-1524.
- Wuenschel, M.J., McBride, R.S., Thornton, G.M., Nitschke, P. (2010) The reproductive biology female winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*): validating classification schemes to assess the importance of 'skip spawning.' In: *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Gonadal Histology of Fishes. El Puerto de Santa María, Cádiz, Spain. 16-19 June 2009.* (Eds. D.M. Wyanski, N.J. Brown-Peterson), pp. 103-107.
- Wyatt, R.J. (1988) The cause of extreme year class variation in a population of roach, *Rutilus rutilus* L., from a eutrophic lake in southern England. *Journal of Fish Biology* **32**, 409-421.
- Wysujack, K., Greenberg, L.A., Bergman, E., Olsson, I.C. (2009) The role of the environment in partial migration: food availability affects the adoption of a migratory tactic in brown trout *Salmo trutta*. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **18**, 52-59.
- Yamada, H. (2009) Reproductive potential and recruitment of sand lance *Ammodytes personatus* in Ise Bay, central Japan. *Fisheries Science* **75**, 851-861.
- Yamamoto, K., Yoshioka, H. (1964) Rhythm of development in the oocyte of the medaka, *Oryzias latipes. Bulletin of the Faculty of Fisheries Hokkaido University.* **15,** 5-19, 12 plates.
- Yaragina, N.A., Dolgov, A.V., Kiseleva, V.M. (2003) Energetic potential of cod and its influence on reproductive ability of population, PINRO Press, Murmansk.

- Zastrow, C.E., Houde, E.D., Morin, L.G. (1991) Spawning, fecundity, hatch-date frequency and young-of-the-year growth of bay anchovy *Anchoa mitchilli* in mid-Chesapeake Bay. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **73**, 161-171.
- Zieba, G., Fox, M.G., Copp, G.H. (2010) The effect of elevated temperature on spawning of introduced pumpkinseed *Lepomis gibbosus* in Europe. *Journal of Fish Biology* **77**, 1850-1855.
- Zwolinski, J., Stratoudakis, T., Soares, E. (2001) Intra-annual variation in the batch fecundity of sardine off Portugal. *Journal of Fish Biology* **58**, 1633-1645.